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ConSolIDAteD InCoMe StAteMent  
For tHe YeAr enDeD 31 DeCeMBer
(noK million) note 2011 2010

operating revenues 7 14,378 13,768 

raw materials and finished goods 26 (1,159) (1,192)

personnel expenses 27 (4,960) (4,711)

other operating expenses 28 (6,113) (5,702)

Share of profit of associated companies 13 39 36

Gross operating profit (loss) 2,185 2,199 

depreciation and amortisation 11, 12 (505) (588)

Gross operating profit (loss) after depreciation and amortisation 1,680 1,611 

impairment loss 11, 12 (191) (110)

other revenues and expenses 8 (50) 1,909

operating profit (loss) 1,439 3,410 

Financial income 29 82 180 

Financial expenses 29 (190) (191)

profit (loss) before taxes 1,331 3,399 

taxes 30 (499) (468)

profit (loss) 832 2,931 

profit (loss) attributable to non-controlling interests 90 137 

profit (loss) attributable to owners of the parent 742 2,794 

earnings per share (noK) 31 7.00 27.04 

diluted earnings per share (noK) 31 6.99 27.01 

earnings per share – adjusted (noK) 31 8.76 9.72 

diluted earnings per share – adjusted (noK) 31 8.75 9.71 

ConSolIDAteD StAteMent  
oF CoMpreHenSIVe InCoMe  
For tHe YeAr enDeD 31 DeCeMBer
(noK million) 2011 2010

profit (loss) 832 2,931 

change in fair value of investments available for sale 14 94 (129)

translation differences (46) (247)

hedging of net investment in foreign operations 7 (4)

tax effect hedging of net investment in foreign operations (2) 1

comprehensive income 885 2,552 

comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests 92 141 

comprehensive income attributable to owners of the parent 793 2,411 



SchibSted AnnuAl report 2011
Financial statements / Group

103

ConSolIDAteD BAlAnCe SHeet  
AS At 31 DeCeMBer

(noK million) note 2011 2010

assets

intangible assets 11 9,611 9,728 

investment property 12 63 63 

property, plant and equipment 12 1,929 2,049 

investments in associated companies 13 492 465 

non-current financial assets 14 143 149 

deferred tax assets 30 58 102 

other non-current assets 15 213 234 

non-current assets 12,509 12,790 

inventories 16 143 139 

trade and other receivables 17 2,406 2,504 

current financial assets 14 500 426 

cash and cash equivalents 18 778 650 

current assets 3,827 3,719 

total assets 16,336 16,509 

eQuitY anD liaBilities

Share capital 19 108 108 

treasury shares 19 (1) (4)

other paid-in capital 1,440 1,426 

other equity 4,955 5,147 

equity attributable to owners of the parent 6,502 6,677 

non-controlling interests 157 329 

equity 6,659 7,006 

deferred tax liabilities 30 798 757 

pension liabilities 21 1,455 1,499 

non-current interest-bearing borrowings 22 1,907 1,906 

other non-current liabilities 23 339 277 

non-current liabilities 4,499 4,439 

current interest-bearing borrowings 22 523 572 

income tax payable 30 428 375 

other current liabilities 24 4,227 4,117 

current liabilities 5,178 5,064 

total equity and liabilities 16,336 16,509 

oslo, 29 March 2012
Schibsted ASA’s board of directors

ole Jacob Sunde
chairman of the board

eva berneke Anne lise von der Fehr Gunnar Kagge

christian ringnes

Monica caneman

Karl-christian Agerup Marie ehrling

rolv erik ryssdal 
ceo
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ConSolIDAteD StAteMent  
oF CASH FloWS  
For tHe YeAr enDeD 31 DeCeMBer
(noK million)       note 2011 2010

casH FloW From operatinG actiVities

profit (loss) before taxes 1,331 3,399

Gain from remeasurement of previously held equity interest in business combination achieved in stages - (1,518)

Share of profit of associated companies 13 (39) (36)

dividends received from associated companies 13 25 13

taxes paid (346) (111)

Sales losses / (gains) non-current assets (63) (581)

Amortisation and impairment losses intangible assets 11 396 346

depreciation and impairment losses property, plant and equipment 12 300 352

impairment losses financial instruments 29 - 8

change in working capital 12 69

net cash flow from operating activities 1,616 1,941

casH FloW From inVestinG actiVities

purchase of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 11, 12 (354) (427)

Acquisition of subsidiaries and joint ventures, net of cash acquired 33 (108) (1,614)

proceeds from sale of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 42 12

proceeds from sale of subsidiaries and joint ventures, net of cash sold 33 (1) 1,194

investments in / sale of other shares 92 109

other investments / sales (1) 2

net cash flow from investing activities (330) (724)

net cash flow before financing activities 1,286 1,217

casH FloW From FinancinG actiVities

new interest-bearing loans and borrowings 802 4,873

repayment of interest-bearing loans and borrowings (841) (6,152)

payment due to increase in ownership interests in subsidiaries (596) (255)

capital increase 21 1

purchase / sale of treasury shares (159) 70

dividends paid to owners of the parent 20 (324) (155)

dividends paid to non-controlling interests (61) (201)

net cash flow from financing activities (1,158) (1,819)

effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents - (3)

net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 128 (605)

cash and cash equivalents as at 1.1 650 1,255

cash and cash equivalents as at 31.12 18 778 650 
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ConSolIDAteD StAteMent  
oF CHAnGeS In eQuItY

(noK million)
share 

capital
treasury 

shares

share 
premium 

reserve
other paid-

in equity
retained 
earnings

Foreign 
currency 

transl. 
reserve

net 
 unrealised 

gains 
reserve total

non-
controlling 

interests total

as at 31.12.2009 108 (5) 1,289 127 3,270 (212) 260 4,837 437 5,274

profit (loss) 2010 - - - - 2,794 - - 2,794 137 2,931

change in fair value of investments 
 available for sale (note 14) - - - - - - (129) (129) - (129)

translation differences - - - - - (251) - (251) 4 (247)

hedging of net investment in foreign 
operations - - - - - (4) - (4) - (4)

tax effect hedging of net investment  
in foreign operations - - - - - 1 - 1 - 1

comprehensive income 2010 - - - - 2,794 (254) (129) 2,411 141 2,552

capital increase - - - - - - - - 1 1

Share-based payment (note 27) - - - 10 - - - 10 - 10

dividends (note 20) - - - - (155) - - (155) - (155)

dividends to non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - (201) (201)

change in treasury shares (note 19) - 1 - - 69 - - 70 - 70

Additions, disposals and change in 
 ownership of subsidiaries - - - - (496) - - (496) (49) (545)

total transactions with the owners - 1 - 10 (582) - - (571) (249) (820)

as at 31.12.2010 108 (4) 1,289 137 5,482 (466) 131 6,677 329 7,006

profit (loss) 2011 - - - - 742 - - 742 90 832

change in fair value of investments 
 available for sale (note 14) - - - - - - 94 94 - 94

translation differences - - - - - (48) - (48) 2 (46)

hedging of net investment in foreign 
operations - - - - - 7 - 7 - 7

tax effect hedging of net investment  
in foreign operations - - - - - (2) - (2) - (2)

comprehensive income 2011 - - - - 742 (43) 94 793 92 885

capital increase - - - - - - - - 7 7

Share-based payment (note 27) - - - 14 - - - 14 - 14

dividends (note 20) - - - - (324) - - (324) - (324)

dividends to non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - (61) (61)

change in treasury shares (note 19) - 3 - - 526 - - 529 - 529

Additions, disposals and change in 
 ownership of subsidiaries - - - - (1,187) - - (1,187) (210) (1,397)

total transactions with the owners - 3 - 14 (985) - - (968) (264) (1,232)

as at 31.12.2011 108 (1) 1,289 151 5,239 (509) 225 6,502 157 6,659
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tABle oF ContentS noteS to tHe  
SCHIBSteD Group ConSolIDAteD  
FInAnCIAl StAteMentS 2011
All amounts are in noK million unless otherwise stated.

note 1: companY inFormation
note 2: siGniFicant accountinG policies
note 3: use oF estimates
note 4: cHanGes in tHe composition oF tHe Group
note 5: Business comBinations
note 6: eVents aFter tHe reportinG perioD
note 7: Disclosure oF operatinG seGments
note 8: otHer reVenues anD expenses
note 9: Financial risK manaGement
note 10: Financial instruments BY cateGorY
note 11: intanGiBle assets
note 12:  propertY, plant anD eQuipment anD  

inVestment propertY
note 13: inVestments in associateD companies
note 14: Financial assets
note 15: otHer non-current assets
note 16: inVentories
note 17: traDe anD otHer receiVaBles
note 18: casH anD casH eQuiValents
note 19: numBer oF sHares
note 20: DiViDenDs
note 21: pension plans
note 22: interest-BearinG BorroWinGs
note 23: otHer non-current liaBilities
note 24: otHer current liaBilities
note 25: Financial liaBilities relateD to non- 

controllinG interests’ put options
note 26: raW materials, WorK in proGress anD  

FinisHeD GooDs
note 27: personnel expenses anD sHare-BaseD paYment
note 28: otHer operatinG expenses
note 29: Financial items
note 30: taxes
note 31: earninGs per sHare
note 32: Joint Ventures
note 33: supplemental inFormation to tHe consoliDateD 

statement oF casH FloWs
note 34: transactions WitH relateD parties
note 35: suBsiDiaries
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note 1 
CoMpAnY InForMAtIon

Schibsted ASA is domiciled in norway. the company’s head office is located 
at Apotekergaten 10, oslo. the company’s postal address is p.o. box 490 
Sentrum, 0105 oslo. the company is a public limited company that is listed on 
the oslo Stock exchange under ticker Sch. 

Schibsted Media Group is one of Scandinavia’s leading media groups. the 
major businesses are in norway, Sweden, estonia, Spain and France, but the 
Group also has operations in other countries in europe, Asia and latin America. 
Schibsted’s operations are divided in three operating segments: Media houses 
Scandinavia, Media houses international and online classifieds. Schibsted has 
a presence in printed newspapers, online newspapers, classifieds, directories 
and live pictures.

the financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 29 March 
2012 and will be proposed to the General Meeting 11 May 2012.

note 2  
SIGnIFICAnt ACCountInG 
 polICIeS

Basis For tHe preparation oF tHe Financial statements 
the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
international Financial reporting Standards (iFrS), issued by international 
Accounting Standards board (iASb), eu-approved and in accordance with the 
norwegian Accounting Act § 3-9. the consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared based on a historical cost basis, with the exception of financial 
instruments in the categories Financial assets or financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss and Available-for-sale financial assets which are 
measured at fair value and loans and receivables and other financial liabilities 
which are measured at amortised cost.

in the consolidated income statement, expenses are presented using a 
classification based on the nature of the expenses.

determining the carrying amounts of some assets and liabilities requires 
management to estimate the effects of uncertain future effects on those 
assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date. Key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the balance sheet date having a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year are disclosed in note 3.

cHanGe in accountinG policies
Schibsted has implemented certain new standards and interpretations 
and amendments to certain existing standards and interpretations which 
are mandatory for the annual period 2011. none of these changes in 
accounting policies have any material effect on the consolidated  
financial statements.

Schibsted has in 2011 made an adjustment to the classification of expenditure 
incurred in ongoing development and upgrading of the Group’s web sites within 
Schibsted classified Media. this results in a somewhat larger share of the 
expenditure being recognised as an expense (maintenance) and a somewhat 
smaller part being recognised as assets (improvements). the change has an 
immaterial effect on the Group’s profit as the increase in operating expenses is 
matched by reduced amortisation.

consoliDation principles
the consolidated financial statements include the parent Schibsted ASA and 
all subsidiaries, presented as the financial statements of a single economic 
entity. intragroup balances, transactions, income and expenses are eliminated.

Subsidiaries are all entities that are controlled, directly or indirectly by 
Schibsted ASA. control is the power to govern the financial and operational 
policies of an entity and is normally achieved through ownership of more 
than half of the voting power of an entity or by virtue of an agreement with 
other investors. the existence and effect of potential voting rights that are 
currently exercisable or convertible, are considered when assessing whether 
control exists.

Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the 
date Schibsted ASA effectively obtains control of the subsidiary (acquisition 
date) and until the date Schibsted ASA ceases to control the subsidiary.

non-controlling interests is the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, 
directly or indirectly, to the parent Schibsted ASA. non-controlling interests 
are presented in the consolidated balance sheet within equity, separately 
from the equity of the owners of the parent. profit or loss and comprehensive 
income attributable to non-controlling interests are disclosed as allocations 
for the period of profit or loss and comprehensive income attributable to 
non-controlling interests and owners of the parent, respectively.

All business combinations in which Schibsted ASA or a subsidiary is the 
acquirer, i.e. the entity that obtains control of an other entity or business, are 
accounted for by applying the acquisition method. 

the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are measured at 
their acquisition-date fair values. Any non-controlling interest in the acquiree 
is measured either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets. the consideration transferred is measured at fair value. 
Any excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount 
recognised for non-controlling interests and the fair value of any previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree over the net of identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed, is recognised as goodwill. Acquisition-related costs 
incurred, except those related to debt or equity, are expensed.

the acquisition-date fair value of contingent consideration is recognised as 
part of the consideration transferred in exchange for the acquiree. Subsequent 
changes in the fair value of contingent consideration deemed to be a liability is 
recognised in profit or loss.

in business combinations achieved in stages, the previously held equity 
interest is remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value with the resulting gain 
or loss recognised in profit or loss. 
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changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of 
control are accounted for as equity transactions. the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests is adjusted to reflect the change in their relative share in 
the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling 
interests is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is 
recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the parent.

When control of a subsidiary is lost, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary 
and the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests are derecognised. 
Any consideration received and any investment retained in the former 
subsidiary are recognised at their fair values. the difference between 
amounts recognised and derecognised is recognised as gain or loss in profit 
or loss. Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income related to the 
subsidiary are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to equity similarly 
as if the parent had disposed of the assets and liabilities directly. Amounts 
reclassified to profit or loss (including accumulated translation differences and 
accumulated fair value adjustments to financial assets available for sale) are 
included in gain or loss on loss of control of subsidiary in profit or loss.

interests in joint ventures
A joint venture is an economic activity which, based on a contractual 
agreement, is subject to joint control by two or more parties. A jointly 
controlled entity is an entity in which Schibsted holds an ownership interest, 
and where the entity is subject to joint control based on a contractual 
agreement between Schibsted and one or more other parties.

Schibsted recognises its share in jointly controlled entities using proportionate 
consolidation. Schibsted combines its share of each of the assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses of jointly controlled entities with similar items in the 
consolidated financial statements on a line-by-line basis.

When joint control is lost, the difference between the fair value of proceeds 
received and any retained investment and the carrying amount of the 
investment is recognised as gain or loss in profit or loss.

investments in associates
Associated companies are defined as companies in which Schibsted ASA, 
directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, does not have a controlling interest 
but exercise significant management influence. Significant influence is 
normally presumed to exist when Schibsted controls 20% or more of the 
voting power of the investee. 

Associated companies are accounted for applying the equity method of accounting 
and are initially recognised at cost. the Group’s investments in associates includes 
goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment loss. 
Schibsted recognises its share of the company’s profit (loss) and gains or losses 
on sale in a separate line item in the income statement within operating profit. 
When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in 
the associate, the Group does not recognise further losses. in the balance sheet, 
the investment is carried at cost adjusted for the share of profit (loss), changes in 
equity not recognised in profit or loss and dividends received.

accrual, classiFication anD Valuation principles
classification – current / non-current distinction
cash and cash equivalents, assets included in the normal operating cycle and 
other financial assets expected to be realised within twelve months after the 

reporting period are classified as current assets. liabilities included in the 
normal operating cycle and liabilities due to be settled within twelve months 
after the reporting period are classified as current liabilities. other assets and 
liabilities are classified as non-current.

operating segments
the division into operating segments is based on the organization of the Group 
and corresponds to the internal management reporting to the chief operating 
decision maker, defined as the ceo.

revenue recognition
revenue from sale of goods is recognised when delivery has occurred and the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer. 
revenue from the rendering of services is recognised by reference to the 
stage of completion of the transaction (the percentage of completion method) 
provided that the outcome of the transaction can be estimated reliably. 
discounts are recognised as a revenue reduction.

Advertising revenue in printed media is recognised when inserted. Subscription 
revenues for printed media are invoiced in advance and recognised upon 
delivery over the subscription period. revenue from other sales of goods, 
including casual sales, are recognised upon delivery, taking into account 
estimated future returns.

Advertising revenue from the internet is recognised when displayed. other 
revenues from the internet, including subscription based revenues, are 
recognised in the periods in which the service is rendered.

commissions related to sales of ads and casual sales are recognised as 
operating expenses.

When goods are sold or services rendered in exchange for dissimilar goods 
or services, revenue is recognised in accordance with the recognition policy 
related to relevant goods or services. revenue is measured at the fair value of 
the goods or services delivered or received, depending on which item that can 
be measured reliably.

interest income is recognised using the effective interest method and 
dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that 
the conditions attaching to them will be complied with, and that the grants will 
be received.

Government grants, including press subsidies, are recognised in profit or 
loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the entity recognises as 
expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Financial instruments 
the Group initially recognises loans, receivables and deposits on the date that 
they are originated. All other financial assets and financial liabilities (including 
assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially 
on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.
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the Group classifies at initial recognition its financial instruments in one of 
the following categories: Financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss, loans and receivables, Available-for-sale financial 
assets and other financial liabilities. the classification depends on the purpose 
for which the financial instruments were acquired.

Financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
financial assets held for trading and acquired primarily with a view of selling 
in the near term. the category consists of financial derivatives unless they are 
designated and effective hedging instruments. Financial derivatives are included in 
the balance sheet items trade and other receivables and other current liabilities.

these financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value when 
recognised initially, and transaction costs are charged to expense as incurred. 
Subsequently, the instruments are measured at fair value, with changes in fair 
value, including interest income, recognised in profit or loss as financial income 
or financial expenses.

loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. the category 
is included in the balance sheet items other non-current assets, trade and 
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents. loans and receivables are 
recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequently, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, reduced by any impairment loss. Short-term loans 
and receivables are for practical reasons not amortised. effective interest 
related to loans and receivables are recognised in income as Financial income.

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are 
designated as available for sale or which are not classified in any other category. 
carrying amount of available-for-sale financial assets are included in the 
balance sheet items non-current financial assets and current financial assets.

these financial assets are measured initially at fair value plus directly 
attributable transaction costs. changes in fair value are recognised in other 
comprehensive income, except for impairment losses that are recognised in 
profit or loss. When an investment is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss 
is transferred to profit or loss under financial income or expenses. dividends 
are recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

Financial liabilities not included in any of the above categories are classified as 
other financial liabilities. the category other financial liabilities is included in the 
balance sheet items non-current interest-bearing borrowings, other non-current 
liabilities, current interest-bearing borrowings and other current liabilities. 
other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequently, other 
financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. effective interest is recognised in income as financial expenses. Short-
term financial liabilities are for practical reasons not amortised.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows 
from the financial asset expire and the Group has transferred substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the 
obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires. Any rights and obligations created or 
retained in such a transfer are recognised separately as assets or liabilities. 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the 
balance sheet when the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and 

intends to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

the Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. in 
the case of equity securities classified as available for sale, a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered 
an indicator that the securities are impaired. indications of impairment is 
evaluated separately for each investment, but normally will decline in value 
of more than 20% compared to cost be considered to be significant, and 
normally will a decline in value below cost lasting for more than 12 months 
be considered to be prolonged. For trade and other receivables, default in 
payments, significant financial difficulties of the debtor or probability that the 
debtor will enter bankruptcy or debt settlement negotiations are considered 
to be indicators that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due 
according to the original terms of the receivables. the carrying amount of 
the trade receivables is reduced through the use of an allowance account, 
and the amount of the loss is recognised as other operating expenses in the 
income statement, while impairment of other financial assets are recognised 
as financial expenses.

Fair value of financial instruments is based on quoted prices in an active 
market if such markets exist. if an active market does not exist, fair value 
is established by using valuation techniques that are expected to provide a 
reliable estimate of the fair value. the fair value of listed securities is based 
on current bid prices. the fair value of unlisted securities are based on cash 
flows discounted using an applicable risk free market interest rate and a risk 
premium specific to the unlisted securities. Fair value of forward contracts 
is estimated based on the difference between the spot forward price of the 
contracts and the closing rate at the date of the balance sheet. the forward 
rate addition and deduction is recognised as interest income or interest 
expense. Fair value of interest and currency swaps is estimated based on 
discounted cash flows, where future interest rates are derived from market 
based future rates.

treasury shares and transaction costs of equity transactions
own equity instruments which are reacquired (treasury shares) are deducted 
from equity. no gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, 
sale, issue or cancellation of treasury shares. consideration paid or received is 
recognised directly in equity.

the transaction costs of issuing or acquiring own equity instruments are 
accounted for as a deduction from equity, net of any related income tax benefit.

Foreign currency translation
each individual entity included in the consolidated financial statements 
measures its results and financial position using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which it operates (the functional currency). the 
consolidated financial statements are presented in noK which is Schibsted 
ASA’s functional and presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the entity’s functional 
currency on initial recognition by using the spot exchange rate at the date of 
the transaction. At the balance sheet date, assets and liabilities are translated 
from foreign currency to the entity’s functional currency by
•	 translating monetary items using the exchange rate at the balance sheet date
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•	 translating non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost 
in a foreign currency using the exchange rate at the transaction date, and

•	 translating non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency using the exchange rate at the date when the fair value was determined.

exchange differences arising on the settlement of, or on translating monetary 
items not designated as hedging instruments, are recognised in profit or loss 
in the period in which they arise. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item 
is recognised in other comprehensive income, any exchange component of that 
gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income. When a gain 
or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange 
component of that gain or loss is also recognised in profit or loss.

on initial designation of a hedge, the Group formally documents the 
relationship between the hedging instrument(s) and hedged item(s), 
including risk management objectives and strategy in undertaking the hedge 
transaction, together with the methods that will be used to assess the 
effectiveness of the hedging relationship. the Group makes an assessment 
both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well as on an ongoing 
basis, whether the hedging instruments are expected to be highly effective in 
offsetting the changes in the fair value or cash flows for the respective hedged 
items during the period for which the hedge is designated.

Gains or losses related to loans or currency derivatives in foreign currencies, 
designated as hedging instruments in a hedge of a net investment in a foreign 
operation, are recognised in other comprehensive income until disposal of the 
operation.

upon incorporation of a foreign operation into the consolidated financial 
statements by consolidation, proportionate consolidation or the equity method, 
the results and financial position is translated from the functional currency of 
the foreign operation into noK (the presentation currency) by using the step-
by-step method of consolidation. Assets and liabilities are translated at the 
closing rate at the balance sheet date and income and expenses are translated 
at average rates for the period. resulting exchange differences are recognised 
in other comprehensive income until the disposal of the foreign operation.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation, is treated as 
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation. thus they are expressed in the 
functional currency of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate 
at the balance sheet date.

property, plant and equipment
property, plant and equipment are measured at its cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

the depreciable amount (cost less residual value) of property, plant and 
equipment is allocated on a systematic basis over its useful life. each part 
of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in 
relation to the total cost of the item, is depreciated separately.

costs of repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
cost of replacements and improvements are recognised in the carrying 
amount of the asset.

the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
derecognised on disposal or when no economic benefits are expected from its 
use or disposal. Gain or loss arising from derecognition is included in profit or 
loss when the item is derecognised.

investment property
property that is not owner-occupied, but held to earn rentals or for capital 
appreciation, is classified as investment property. investment property is 
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

intangible assets
intangible assets are measured at its cost less accumulated amortisations and 
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation of intangible assets with a finite 
useful life is allocated on a systematic basis over its useful life. intangible 
assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised.

costs of developing software and other intangible assets are charged 
to expense until all requirements for recognition as an asset is met. the 
requirements for recognition as an asset include, among other requirements, 
the requirement to demonstrate probable future economic benefits and 
the requirement that the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. costs 
incurred after the time that all the requirements for recognition as an asset 
are met are recognised as an asset. the cost of an internally generated 
intangible asset is the sum of expenditure incurred from the time all 
requirements for recognition as an asset are met and until the time the asset 
is capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 

expenditure related to development of intangible assets to be used in 
new markets will normally be charged to expense as the requirement to 
demonstrate probable future economic benefits will normally not be met.

Subsequent expenditure incurred in the operating stage to enhance or maintain 
an intangible asset are normally recognised as an expense as the requirement to 
demonstrate probable increased economic benefits will normally not be met. 

impairment of non-financial assets 
property, plant, equipment, intangible assets and goodwill are reviewed for 
impairment whenever an indication that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable is identified. Goodwill and other intangible assets that have an 
indefinite useful life are tested annually for impairment. impairment indicators 
will typically be changes in market developments, the competitive situation or 
technological developments.

An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement if the carrying 
amount of an asset (cash generating unit) exceeds its recoverable amount. 

the recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and fair value less cost 
to sell. Value in use is assessed by discounting estimated future cash flows. 
estimated cash flows are based on management’s experience and market 
knowledge for the given period, normally five years. For subsequent periods 
growth factors are used that do not exceed the long-term average rate of 
growth for the relevant market. expected cash flows are discounted using an 
after tax discount rate that takes into account the expected long-term interest 
rate with the addition of a risk margin appropriate for the assets being tested. 
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets, except goodwill, are grouped 
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together into the smallest group of assets that generates independent cash 
flows (cash-generating units). Goodwill acquired in a business combination 
is, from the acquisition date, allocated to the cash-generating units, or 
groups of cash-generating units, that is expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the combination. testing for impairment of goodwill is done by 
comparing recoverable amount and carrying amount of the same groups of 
cash-generating units as to which goodwill is allocated. impairment losses 
recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the 
carrying amount of any goodwill. Any remaining amount is then allocated to 
reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit on a pro rata basis. 
impairment losses are reversed if the loss no longer exists for all property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets with the exception of goodwill 
where impairment losses are not reversed.

leases 
leases are classified as either finance leases or as operating leases. leases 
that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the asset 
are classified as finance leases. other leases are classified as operating leases.

When Schibsted is lessee in a finance lease, the leased asset and the liability 
related to the lease is recognised in the balance sheet. depreciable leased assets 
are depreciated systematically over the useful life of the asset. lease payments 
are apportioned between interest expense and reduction of the liability.

lease payments related to operating leases are recognised as an expense over 
the lease term.

Borrowing costs
borrowing costs are generally recognised as an expense in the period in which 
they are incurred. borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of an asset, that necessarily takes a substantial period 
of time to get ready for its intended use or sale («qualifying asset»), are capitalised 
as part of the cost of that asset. 

inventories
inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. the cost 
of inventories are assigned by using the first-in, first-out (FiFo) cost formula and 
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in 
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

net realisable value is estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale.

post-employment benefits 
pension plans, including multi-employer plans, are classified as defined 
contribution plans or defined benefit plans depending on the economic 
substance of the plan. pension plans in which Schibsted’s obligation is limited 
to the payment of agreed contributions and in which the actuarial risk and the 
investment risk fall on the employee, are classified as defined contribution 
plans. other plans are classified as defined benefit plans.

As net defined benefit obligation is recognised the present value of the benefit 
obligation at the balance sheet date, less fair value of plan assets, adjusted for 
unrecognised actuarial gains (losses) and unrecognised past service cost.

net benefit expense related to defined benefit plans include current service 
cost, interest cost, expected return on plan assets, actuarial gains or losses 
recognised and past service cost.

the present value of defined benefit obligations, current service cost and 
past service cost is determined using the projected unit credit Method and 
actuarial assumptions regarding demographic variables and financial variables.

net cumulative actuarial gains or losses exceeding the higher of either 10% 
of the present value of the defined benefit obligation or 10% of the fair value 
of plan assets, are recognised in profit or loss over the expected average 
remaining working lives of the employees participating in the plan. 
 
past service cost is recognised in profit or loss over the average period until 
the benefits become vested. past service cost is recognised immediately to the 
extent the benefits are already vested immediately after the introduction of, or 
changes to, a defined benefit plan.

Gain or loss on the curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan is 
recognised when the curtailment or settlement occurs. the gain or loss 
comprise any resulting change in the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation and any resulting change in the fair value of the plan assets, as well 
as any related actuarial gains and losses not previously recognised.

the contribution payable to a defined contribution plan attributable to the 
reporting period is recognised in profit or loss.

Multi-employer plans classified as defined benefit plans, but for which 
sufficient information is not available to enable recognition as a defined benefit 
plan, are accounted for as if they were defined contribution plans. 
 
Social security taxes are included in the determination of defined benefit 
obligations and net benefit expense.

share-based payment 
in equity settled share-based payment transactions with employees, the 
employee services and the corresponding equity increase is measured by 
reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted. the fair value 
of the equity instruments are measured at grant date, and is recognised as 
personnel expenses and equity increase immediately or over the vesting period 
when performance vesting conditions require an employee to serve over a 
specified time period. 

At each reporting date the companies remeasure the estimated number of 
equity instruments that is expected to vest. the amount recognised as an 
expense is adjusted to reflect the number of equity instruments which is 
expected to be, or actually become vested.

in cash settled share-based payment transactions with employees, the 
employee services and the incurred liability is measured at the fair value of the 
liability. the employee services and the liability are recognised immediately 
or over the vesting period when performance vesting conditions require an 
employee to serve over a specified time period. until the liability is settled, 
the fair value of the liability is revised at each balance sheet date and at 
settlement date, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.



SchibSted AnnuAl report 2011
notes / Group

112

income taxes
current tax, which is the amount of income taxes payable in respect of taxable 
profit for a period, is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. if the 
amount paid exceeds the amount due, the excess is recognised as an asset.

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, 
except for liabilities arising from the initial recognition of goodwill.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for deductible temporary differences, the 
carryforward of unused tax losses and the carryforward of unused tax credits 
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which these benefits can be utilised.

no deferred tax liability is recognised for taxable temporary differences 
associated with investments in subsidiaries and interests in joint ventures 
when Schibsted is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future.

tax expense (tax income) comprises current tax expense (current tax income) 
and deferred tax expense (deferred tax income). Any amount recognised 
as current tax assets or liabilities and deferred tax assets or liabilities are 
recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that the tax arises from a 
transaction or event recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity or arises from a business combination.

provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A provision is recognised when an obligation exists (legal or constructive) as 
a result of a past event, it is probable that an economic settlement will be 
required as a consequence of the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.

the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation is 
recognised as a provision. When the effect is material, the provision is 
discounted using a market based pre-tax discount rate.

A provision for restructuring costs is recognised when a constructive obligation 
arises. Such an obligation is assumed to have arisen when the restructuring 
plan is approved and the implementation of the plan has begun or its main 
features are announced to those affected by it.

contingent liabilities and contingent assets are not recognised. contingent 
liabilities are disclosed unless the possibility of an economic settlement as 
a consequence of the obligation is remote. contingent assets are disclosed 
where an economic settlement as a consequence of the asset is probable.

other revenues and expenses 
revenues and expenses included in operating profit, but being of a non-
recurring nature and material in relation to operating segments, are reported 
on a separate line item in the income statement. other revenues and expenses 
will normally include restructuring costs, material gains and losses on sale of 
property, plant and equipment or intangible assets, as well as gains or losses 
relating to sale of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies.

non-current assets held for sale
A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as held for sale if its 

carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sales transaction 
rather than through continuing use.

A disposal group includes assets to be disposed of, by sale or otherwise, 
together in a single transaction, and liabilities directly associated with those 
assets that will be transferred in the transaction.

A non-current asset or a disposal group classified as held for sale is measured 
at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. non-current 
assets classified as held for sale and non-current assets that are part of a 
disposal group classified as held for sale, are not depreciated.

non-current assets and assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale 
are presented separately from other assets in the balance sheet. the liabilities 
of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented separately from 
other liabilities in the balance sheet.

Discontinued operations
the results of discontinued operations are presented separately in the income 
statement. A component of the Group that either has been disposed of or is 
classified as held for sale, and represents a separate major line of business, is 
classified as discontinued operations.

the results of discontinued operations are presented separately from the 
period the operation is disposed of or classified as held for sale. previous 
periods are reclassified so that all items related to discontinued operations are 
presented separately from continuing operations for all periods presented.

statement of cash flows
the statement of cash flows is prepared under the indirect method. cash and 
cash equivalents include cash, bank deposits and other monetary instruments 
with a maturity of less than three months at the date of purchase.

earnings per share
earnings per share and diluted earnings per share is presented for ordinary 
shares. earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income attributable to 
owners of the parent by the weighted average number of shares outstanding. 
diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income attributable to 
owners of the parent by the weighted average number of shares outstanding, 
adjusted for all dilutive potential shares.

Dividends
dividends are recognised as a liability at the date such dividends are 
appropriately approved by the company’s shareholders’ meeting.

iFrs anD iFric interpretations not Yet eFFectiVe
iASb has published a number of new standards and interpretations and 
amendments to existing standards and interpretations that are not effective 
for the annual period ending 31 december 2011 and that are not applied 
in preparing these financial statements. none of the new standards and 
interpretations and amendments to existing standards and interpretations 
that may have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements are 
eu-approved at 31 december 2011, which is required for implementation by 
Schibsted for the preparation of consolidated financial statements.

of the standards published by iASb, iFrS 11 Joint Arrangements and changes 
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to iAS 19 employee benefits are the changes in accounting policies that to the 
greatest extent may affect the consolidated financial statements of Schibsted 
if these are approved by eu. these standards are expected to be eu-approved 
and to be effective from 2013.

iFrS 11 Joint Arrangements will remove the option to account for jointly 
controlled entities using proportionate consolidation.

Amendments to iAS 19 employee benefits will imply that the corridor 
approach (deferred recognition of changes in pension plan assets and 
liabilities) will no longer be allowed. the result will be greater balance sheet 
volatility than by applying the corridor approach. the amendments will limit 
the changes in the net pension liability to be recognised in profit or loss to 
net interest expense and service cost. expected return on plan assets will be 
replaced by an estimated return based on the discount rate.

note 3 
uSe oF eStIMAteS

in many areas the consolidated financial statements are affected by estimates. 
important areas in which the use of estimates has significant effect on carrying 
amounts, and thus involve a risk of changes that could affect results in future 
periods, are described below.

the valuation of intangible assets in connection with business combinations and 
the testing of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets for impairment 
(see note 11 intangible assets and note 12 property, plant and equipment and 
investment property) will to a large extent be based on estimated future cash 
flows. correspondingly, the expected useful lives and residual values included in 
the calculation of depreciation and amortisation will be based on estimates. the 
Group has activities within established media, but is also active in establishing 
positions at an early point in time in new media channels both through business 
combinations and its own start-ups. estimates related to future cash flows 
and the determination of discount rates to calculate present values are based 
on management’s expectations on market developments, the competitive 
situation, technological developments, the ability to realise synergies, interest 
rate levels and other relevant factors. Such estimates involves uncertainty, and 
management’s view on, and the actual development in the matters referred 
to, may change over time. changes in management’s opinion and actual 
developments may lead to impairment losses in future periods.

the risk of changes in expected cash flows that affect the financial statements 
will naturally be higher in markets in an early phase and be more limited in 
established markets. Further, the risk of changes will be significantly higher 
in periods with uncertain macroeconomic prognosis. in the present situation 
management considers the macroeconomic situation in Spain to be particularly 
affected by uncertainty. Valuation of the Group’s assets in ScM Spain is based on 
cash flows where growth compared to the present cash flows is expected. lack 
of improvement in the macroeconomic situation in Spain can consequently lead 
to a necessary negative adjustment to the cash flows. during 2010 a significant 
investment in the internet site leboncoin.fr (ScM France SAS) was made, based 
on a valuation of the entity where growth in future cash flows is expected. Adverse 
development in underlying macroeconomy in France will consequently imply risk 
for negative adjustment to the Group’s estimates.
 
intangible assets that are not amortised are tested annually for impairment. other 
assets are tested for impairment if there are indications that an asset is impaired. 
Such indications will typically be changes in market developments, the competitive 
situation and technological developments. in the same way, depreciation and 
amortisation schedules and any residual values are reviewed periodically.

Schibsted has in 2011 recognised impairment losses related to goodwill of 
noK 120 million. the most significant impairment loss (noK 111 million) is related 
to the free newspaper operations in Spain (20 Minutos Spain) and is a consequence 
of market situation and uncertainty related to macroeconomic prognosis.

Schibsted recognised in 2010 impairment losses related to goodwill of noK 77 
million. the most significant losses were related to goodwill in Kapaza in belgium 
and in Finn Foto in norway as a consequence of adverse development in profitability 
and nettby in norway as a result of the decision to close down the operation.
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monitored and a liability is recognised when it is probable that the litigation will 
result in a future payment and a reliable estimate of the liability can be made.

note 4 
CHAnGeS In tHe  
CoMpoSItIon oF tHe Group

Schibsted has in 2011 invested noK 146 million (net noK 123 million adjusted 
for cash in acquired companies) related to acquisition of subsidiaries (business 
combinations). See note 5 business combinations for further information 
related to the business combinations.

Schibsted has in 2011 invested noK 1,265 million related to increased 
ownership interests in subsidiaries, mainly related to Media norge ASA. 
noK 688 million of the consideration is settled by using treasury shares.

Schibsted increased in January 2011 its ownership interest in Media norge 
ASA by 3.6% to 85.9% through acquisition of shares. in May 2011 the merger 
between Schibsted ASA and Media norge ASA was closed. the exchange rate 
built on a value of noK 72.50 per Media norge ASA share and noK 171.35 per 
Schibsted ASA share. this valued the equity of Media norge at noK 7.25 billion. 
For the minority shareholders of Media norge, the settlement of the merger was 
through two thirds shares in Schibsted ASA and one third cash. one share in 
Media norge ASA gave 0.2821 shares in Schibsted ASA. in addition, the minority 
shareholders received noK 24.17 in cash per Media norge ASA share. the cash 
amount was in total noK 344 million including interest from 10 January 2011 
until the merger was closed. Schibsted used treasury shares in the settlement, 
and no shares were thus issued in the merger.

in the consolidated financial statements of Schibsted, the merger is accounted 
for as an equity transaction (increase in ownership interest in subsidiary). 
When ownership interest in subsidiaries increase, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests is adjusted to reflect the change in their relative interest 
in the subsidiary, and the difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid is 
recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the parent.

Schibsted has in 2011 sold certain minor subsidiaries, including 100% of the 
shares of Sandrew Metronome norge AS and 100% of the shares of Sandrew 
Metronome distribution Finland oY. net gain on the sale of subsidiaries 
amounts to noK 16 million and is recognised in other revenues and expenses, 
see note 8 other revenues and expenses.

Media norge is included in operating segment Media houses Scandinavia. 
Sandrew Metronome norge AS and Sandrew Metronome distribution Finland 
oY was included in other.

Schibsted has in 2010 invested noK 1,762 million in connection with acquisitions 
of new subsidiaries (business combinations). the most significant investment is in 
editions Aixoises Multimédia SAS (ScM France SAS) who operates the internet site 
leboncoin.fr, as well as investments in lendo Ab and Flytteportalen AS. See note 5 
business combinations for further information related to the business combinations.

Schibsted recognised in 2008 an impairment loss of noK 1,291 million related 
to goodwill in ScM Spain and recognised in 2010 an impairment loss of noK 37 
million related to goodwill in Kapaza. changes in significant assumptions used 
would have increased (decreased) recoverable amount (noK million) at 31.12.2011 
for these units as follows: 

scm spain Kapaza

WAcc +1% (358) (21)

(1%) 446 26

Sustained growth year 6 and forward +1% 454 25

(1%) (342) (19)

An increase in WAcc by 1% would have resulted in an impairment loss of goodwill 
related to ScM Spain in 2011 of noK 244 million while a reduction by 1% in 
sustained growth year 6 and forward would have resulted in an impairment loss 
of noK 229 million. the difference between these amounts of impairment losses 
and the changes in recoverable amount presented above, reflects that the actual 
estimated recoverable amount exceeds the carrying amount by approximately 
noK 114 million. As described above, the estimated recoverable amount is also 
affected by the assumptions used for future cash flows. these estimates are 
uncertain. A reduction in the expected future net cash flows related to ScM Spain 
of more than approximately 3.5% compared to the estimates actually used, would 
have resulted in an impairment loss of goodwill having to be recognised. 

An increase in WAcc by 1% would have resulted in an impairment loss of 
goodwill related to Kapaza in 2011 of noK 5 million while a reduction by 1% 
in sustained growth year 6 and forward would have resulted in an impairment 
loss of noK 3 million. 

Accounting for pension obligations requires that financial assumptions relating 
among others to the discount rate, expected salary increases and expected 
increases in pensions and national insurance basic amount are determined. 
changes in assumptions affect the fair value of pension obligations, but will 
affect the consolidated income statement through amortisation only when 
accumulated actuarial gains or losses exceed 10% of the higher of pension 
obligations and plan assets. See note 21 pension plans.

An increase / decrease of the discount rate by 1% will, including changes 
resulting from other assumptions that changes accordingly, reduce / increase 
the present value of defined benefit obligations by approximately 6%.

Financial instruments are measured at fair value. When no quoted market 
price is available, fair value is estimated using different valuation techniques. 
the Group’s financial instruments and valuation techniques are presented in 
note 10 Financial instruments by category.

the present value of future consideration to be paid related to non-controlling 
interests’ put options over shares in subsidiaries are recognised as financial 
liabilities, see note 25 Financial liabilities related to non-controlling interests’ 
put options. the liabilities are recognised using estimated value, and the 
estimate can be changed in future periods as the pricing is dependent upon 
future fair value and / or future results. 

Schibsted could potentially always be involved in litigations as a result of the 
Group’s ordinary operations. the financial implications of litigations is constantly 
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Schibsted has in 2010 invested noK 255 million related to increased 
ownership share in subsidiaries. in September 2010 Schibsted purchased 49% 
of the shares in tVnu Sweden Ab and the ownership share after the purchase 
is 100%. in november 2010 Schibsted purchased 46% of the shares in lendo 
Ab and the ownership share after the purchase is 97%. Schibsted has in 2010 
increased its ownership share in Media norge ASA from 80.44% to 82.31%. 
the purchase price is charged to equity in accordance with iAS 27.

Willhaben internet Service Gmbh, a joint venture where Schibsted owns 50%, 
purchased in April 2010 100% of the shares in car4You Gmbh. car4You 
Gmbh is an Austrian car portal.

Schibsted sold in May 2010 the building used by Media norge trykk oslo 
AS in Sandakerveien 121 in oslo, through the sale of 100% of the shares in 
Sandakerveien 121 AS. proceeds from the sale was noK 702 million, and the gain 
from the sale of noK 416 million is included in other revenues and expenses, see 
note 8 other revenues and expenses. A lease back agreement is entered into, 
where the building is leased for a period of 15 years with an option to extend for 
five plus five plus five years. the lease is accounted for as an operating lease.

Schibsted sold in July 2010 the Group’s shares in the subsidiary Scanpix norge 
AS and in november 2010 the Group’s shares in the joint venture car & boat 
Media holding SAS. the sale of car & boat Media holding SAS was part of a joint 
agreement where Schibsted simultaneously purchased 50% of editions Aixoises 
Multimédia SAS (ScM France SAS). total gain of noK 62 million is included in 
other revenues and expenses, see note 8 other revenues and expenses. 

Sandakerveien 121 AS, Scanpix norge AS and lendo Ab are included in 
operating segment Media houses Scandinavia. car4You Gmbh, Flytteportalen 
AS, editions Aixoises Multimédia SAS (ScM France SAS) and car & boat Media 
holding SAS are included in operating segment online classifieds.

note 5 
BuSIneSS CoMBInAtIonS

Business comBinations in 2011:
Schibsted has in 2011 invested noK 146 million (net noK 123 million adjusted 
for cash in acquired companies) related to acquisition of subsidiaries (business 
combinations).

in March 2011, Schibsted acquired the Swedish online weather service Klart.
se. in April 2011, Schibsted acquired 100% of the shares of tvnet SiA in 
latvia that operates the online newspaper tvnet.lv. in June 2011, Schibsted 
acquired 55% of the shares of Sibmedia interactive S.r.l. in romania that 
operates the online classifieds site tocmai.ro. in July 2011, Schibsted acquired 
69,95% of the shares of Service response europe Ab in Sweden that operates 
servicefinder.se, a market place for services. in September 2011, Schibsted 
acquired 50,09% of the shares of done deal ltd in ireland that operates the 
online classifieds site donedeal.ie. Schibsted has also been involved in some 
other minor business combinations.

the investments are carried out as a part of Schibsted’s growth strategy. the 
investments are partly related to focusing on online classifieds in new markets 

and partly to developing web-based growth companies benefiting from strong 
traffic positions and brands of established operations in norway and Sweden.

the business combinations have resulted in recognition of goodwill of noK 115 
million attributable to non-contractual customer relationships, the assembled 
workforce of the companies and synergies. of the goodwill recognised, noK 19 
million is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

the following tables summarise the consideration transferred and the 
amounts for assets and liabilities recognised after the business combinations:

total business 
combinations

consideration:

cash 126

other assets 20

contingent consideration 3

consideration transferred 149

amounts for assets and liabilities recognised:

trademarks (indefinite useful life) 54

data systems and licenses 14

property, plant and equipment 1

trade receivables 8

other current assets 29

deferred tax liabilities  (8)

current liabilities  (24)

total identifiable net assets 74

non-controlling interests  (40)

Goodwill 115

total 149

non-controlling interests are measured at the proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. When Schibsted is obligated to acquire 
ownership interests from non-controlling interests, a financial liability is 
recognised with a corresponding adjustment to equity, see note 25 Financial 
liabilities related to non-controlling interests’ put options.

the fair value of acquired receivables is noK 9 million, of which noK 8 million 
are trade receivables. there is no material difference between the gross 
contractual amounts receivable and the fair value of the receivables.

the companies acquired in the business combinations have since acquisition 
date contributed noK 40 million to operating revenues and contributed 
negatively noK 3 million to profit (loss).

if the acquisition date of all business combinations was as of 1.1.2011, the 
operating revenues and profit (loss) of the Group would have increased by 
noK 35 million and noK 3 million, respectively.

Schibsted has not incurred significant acquisition-related costs in connection 
with the business combinations.
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Business combinations in 2010:
Schibsted has in 2010 invested noK 1,762 million in connection with 
acquisitions of subsidiaries (business combinations). 

purchase of editions aixoises multimédia sas (leboncoin.fr):
in november 2010 Schibsted acquired 50% of the shares in editions Aixoises 
Multimédia SAS. the company has later changed name to ScM France SAS. 
Schibsted held before the acquisition 50% of the shares in the company 
and the investment was accounted for as a joint venture. the acquisition of 
editions Aixoises Multimédia SAS is accounted for as a business combination 
achieved in stages.

editions Aixoises Multimédia SAS is the owner of the internet site leboncoin.fr, 
the leading online classifieds site in France.

increased ownership in leboncoin.fr is of vital strategic value for Schibsted. 
control of the company strengthens both the opportunity to develop the internet 
site leboncoin.fr, and to develop new online businesses in the French market.

the business combination have resulted in recognition of goodwill of noK 
2,608 million attributable to non-contractual private customer relationships, 
the assembled workforce of the company and a control premium connected to 
the possibility of broadening the presence in the French market, faster decision 
making, greater possibility for synergies and future developments. none of the 
goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

in connection with the business combination an arrangement with the prior 
owner relating to contingent consideration has been made. the contingent 
consideration is connected to the revenues of editions Aixoises Multimédia 
SAS in 2013. the consideration is determined by the level of revenue in a step 
system. depending on the revenue, the consideration will be between eur 0 
and 10 million. Fair value of future payment is estimated with reference to the 
most likely revenue level, where the corresponding payment of eur 10 million is 
discounted to present value at the acquisition date using a discount rate of 2.7%.

cost related to the acquisition amount to noK 10 million and is included in 
other revenue and expenses, see note 8 other revenues and expenses. 

Schibsted has recognised a gain of noK 1,518 million as previously held equity 
interest, in business combinations achieved in stages, is to be remeasured at 
fair value at the acquisition date with any resulting gain or loss recognised in 
profit or loss. the gain is included in other revenue and expenses, see note 8 
other revenues and expenses. 

other business combinations:
in May 2010, Schibsted purchased 51% of the shares in lendo Ab and in July 
2010 Schibsted purchased 50.1% of the shares in Flytteportalen AS. 

lendo Ab is a Swedish internet-based provider of loans in the private market 
and Flytteportalen AS is a norwegian internet-based change of address service.

the investments are part of Schibsted’s growth strategy and provides 
opportunities to exploit revenue- and cost synergies as well as opportunities to 
improve traffic generation between the various online services within the group.

the business combinations have resulted in recognition of goodwill of noK 17 

million attributable to non-contractual customer relationships and other 
synergies. none of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for 
income tax purposes. 

the table below summarises the consideration and the amounts of assets and 
liabilities recognised after the business combinations:

editions aixoises 
multimédia sas

other business 
combinations

total business 
combinations

consideration:

cash 1,655 33 1,688

contingent conside-
ration 75  - 75

consideration trans-
ferred 1,730 33 1,763

Fair value of previously 
held equity interest 1,576  - 1,576

total 3,306 33 3,339

amounts for assets and liabilities recognised:

trademarks (indefinite 
useful life) 734 22 756

data systems and 
licenses 30 5 35

customer relations 78  - 78

property, plant and 
equipment 4  - 4

deferred tax assets  - 2 2

trade receivables 33 3 36

other current assets 188 18 206

deferred tax liabilities  (280)  (7)  (287)

current liabilities  (89)  (10)  (99)

total identifiable net 
assets 698 33 731

non-controlling 
interests  -  (17)  (17)

Goodwill 2,608 17 2,625

total 3,306 33 3,339

non-controlling interests are measured at the proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. When Schibsted is obligated to acquire 
ownership interests from non-controlling interests, a financial liability is 
recognised with a corresponding adjustment to equity, see note 25 Financial 
liabilities related to non-controlling interests’ put options.

the fair value of receivables is noK 63 million and includes trade receivables 
of noK 36 million. none of the receivables are impaired and provided for and it 
is expected that the gross contractual amount of the receivables is collectible.

editions Aixoises Multimédia SAS has since acquisition date contributed 
noK 28 million to operating revenues and noK 9 million to profit (loss) in the 
consolidated income statement.

Flytteportalen AS and lendo Ab have since acquisition date contributed 
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noK 24 million to operating revenues and noK 4 million to profit (loss) in the 
consolidated income statement.

if all business combinations had taken place with effect from 1.1.2010, the 
consolidated income statement would show increased operating revenues of 
noK 149 million and an increase in profit (loss) of noK 40 million.

note 6 
eVentS AFter tHe  
reportInG perIoD

Schibsted Media Group announced on 12 January 2012 an offer to the shareholders 
in Aspiro Ab to acquire all the shares in Aspiro Ab for SeK 1.65 in cash per share. 
Aspiro Ab is a leading provider of music and tV streaming services. the offer 
values the equity of Aspiro Ab at approximately SeK 340 million.

Schibsted has until 13 March 2012 acquired shares under the offer and outside 
the offer and Schibsted’s ownership interest is 74.3% after these purchases. 
Schibsted held, before the offer was made public, 18.3% of the shares of Aspiro 
Ab. in addition, Schibsted had through a trS agreement the financial interest 
related to an additional 21.3% of the shares of Aspiro Ab.

Schibsted has through the share purchases obtained control over Aspiro Ab 
and Aspiro Ab will thus be consolidated as a subsidiary from the acquisition 
date. the business combination will be accounted for as a business combination 
achieved in stages. A gain from remeasurement of previously held equity 
interest of approximately noK 40 million will be recognised at the acquisition 
date. Aspiro Ab is a listed company and Schibsted has had limited access to 
information. At the date of approval of these annual financial statements, 
information regarding the amounts that will be recognised for each major class 
of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, does therefore not exist.

Schibsted has in February 2012, in order to increase the number of sources of 
financing and diversify the Group’s loan structure, issued noK 800 million of new 
unsecured bonds in the norwegian bond market. the issuance is split between a 
five year loan of noK 500 million and a seven year loan of noK 300 million.

note 7 
DISCloSure oF  
operAtInG SeGMentS

Schibsted reports three operating segments: Media houses Scandinavia, Media 
houses international and online classifieds.

Segment Media houses Scandinavia includes Media norge, VG, Schibsted 
Sverige and the Group’s publishing operations. Media norge comprises 
the media houses Aftenposten, bergens tidende, Stavanger Aftenblad 
and Fædrelandsvennen. Schibsted Sverige comprises the media houses 
Aftonbladet and Svenska dagbladet, and a portfolio of internet based growth 
companies (Schibsted tillväxtmedier except hitta).

Segment Media houses international comprises 20 Minutos Spain, 20 Minutes 
France and eesti Meedia.

Segment online classifieds comprises Schibsted classified Media, Finn and hitta.

other comprises operations not included in the three operating segments, 
mainly Sandrew Metronome. 

headquarters comprises the Group’s headquarter Schibsted ASA and its 
centralised finance function, Schibsted Finans AS.

eliminations comprise intersegment sales. transactions between segments 
are made on normal commercial terms. 

the division into operating segments corresponds to management structure 
and internal reporting to the chief operating decision maker, defined as the 
ceo. the division reflects an allocation based partly on kind of operation and 
partly on geographical location.

in the segment information presented, operating profit (loss) is used as a 
measure of segment profit or loss. For internal control and monitoring, Gross 
operating profit (loss) and Gross operating profit (loss) after depreciation and 
amortisation are also used as measures of segment profit and loss.
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information about operating profit (loss) by operating segments are as follows:

2011
media Houses 

scandinavia
media Houses 

international
online  

classifieds other
Head- 

quarters eliminations total

Subscription revenues 1,656 86  -  -  -  - 1,742
casual sales revenues 2,571 57 13  -  -  - 2,641
Advertising revenues 4,465 628 3,335  -  -  - 8,428
other revenues 1,174 209 72 110 2  - 1,567

operating revenues from external customers 9,866 980 3,420 110 2 - 14,378
operating revenues from other segments 125 24 75 4 45 (273) -

operating revenues 9,991 1,004 3,495 114 47 (273) 14,378
operating expenses (8,757) (967) (2,416) (111) (254) 273 (12,232)
Share of profit (loss) of associated companies 41 1 (3) - - - 39

Gross operating profit (loss) 1,275 38 1,076 3 (207) - 2,185
depreciation and amortisation (290) (35) (177) (2) (1) - (505)

Gross operating profit (loss) after depreciation and 
amortisation 985 3 899 1 (208) - 1,680
impairment loss (20) (111) (60) - - - (191)
other revenues and expenses (65) (8) 4 19 - - (50)

operating profit (loss) 900 (116) 843 20 (208) - 1,439

2010
media Houses 

scandinavia
media Houses 

international
online  

classifieds other
Head- 

quarters eliminations total

Subscription revenues 1,583 89  -  -  -  - 1,672
casual sales revenues 2,721 61 14  -  -  - 2,796
Advertising revenues 4,342 622 2,723  -  -  - 7,687
other revenues 1,031 201 119 260 2  - 1,613

operating revenues from external customers 9,677 973 2,856 260 2  - 13,768
operating revenues from other segments 94 36 82 1 40 (253)  - 

operating revenues 9,771 1,009 2,938 261 42 (253) 13,768
operating expenses (8,488) (949) (1,961) (217) (243) 253 (11,605)
Share of profit (loss) of associated companies 41 - (5) - -  - 36

Gross operating profit (loss) 1,324 60 972 44 (201)  - 2,199
depreciation and amortisation (317)  (37) (201)  (31)  (2)  -  (588)

Gross operating profit (loss) after depreciation and 
amortisation 1,007 23 771 13 (203)  - 1,611
impairment loss (47) (5) (57) (1)  -  - (110)
other revenues and expenses 347  - 1,562 (8) 8  - 1,909

operating profit (loss) 1,307 18 2,276 4 (195)  - 3,410
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information about operating revenues by products and services are  
as follows:

operating revenues 2011 2010

printed newspapers 9,001 9,121

online newspapers 1,617 1,302

classified/directories 3,528 3,002

live pictures 206 350

others 642 427

eliminations (616) (434)

total 14,378 13,768 

operating revenues include government grants at noK 56 million in 2011 
and noK 57 million in 2010. in addition barter agreements are included with 
noK 48 million in 2011 and noK 71 million in 2010.

information about operating revenues and non-current assets by 
 geographical areas
in presenting geographical information, attribution of operating revenues is 
based on the location of group companies. there are no significant differences 
between the attribution of operating revenues based on the location of group 
companies and an attribution based on the customers’ location. non-current 
assets are attributed based on the geographical location of the assets.

operating revenues 2011 2010

norway 7,637 7,349

Sweden 4,224 4,121

baltics 566 576

other europe 1,872 1,644

other countries 79 78

total 14,378 13,768 

non-current assets 2011 2010

norway 3,333 3,440

Sweden 1,619 1,562

baltics 353 361

other europe 6,748 6,911

other countries 59 54

total 12,112 12,328 

non-current assets comprise assets excluding deferred tax assets and 
financial instruments, expected to be recovered more than twelve months 
after the reporting period.

note 8 
otHer reVenueS AnD eXpenSeS

operating revenues and -expenses that are of a non-recurring nature and are 
of material importance to the operating segments are separated from other 
ordinary operating revenues and expenses and reported in a separate line in 
the income statement. 

other revenues and expenses include: 

2011 2010

restructuring costs (231) (61)
Gain on sale of intangible assets, proper-
ty, plant and equipment and investment 
property 33 416
Gain on sale of subsidiaries and joint 
ventures (note 4) 16 62

Gain on amendment of pension plans 99 27
Gain from remeasurement of previously 
held equity interest in business combina-
tion achieved in stages  - 1,518

Acquisition related costs  - (10)

other  33 (43)

total (50) 1,909

2011
restructuring costs of noK 202 million is recognised as a consequence of 
implementation of measures to reduce the cost base in the segment Media 
houses Scandinavia. the costs are mainly related to reduction in headcount in 
Media norge, VG and Schibsted Sverige. the measures are implemented and 
will take effect in the period 2012–2014 where the cost base will be reduced 
by approximately noK 200 million and headcount will be reduced by 160–200. 
restructuring costs related to the ongoing downscaling of the operations in 
Sandrew Metronome amount to noK 28 million.

in relation to the ongoing downscaling of the operations in Sandrew Metronome, 
gains on the sale of subsidiaries and gains on sale of intangible assets are 
recognised in 2011 by noK 10 million and noK 33 million, respectively.

Amendments to pension plans in certain subsidiaries have resulted in a gain of 
noK 99 million. the amendments comprise amendments to benefits in existing 
plans and change from unfunded benefit plans to insurance of disability benefits.

other includes positive effect from recognising in income a provision related to a 
legal dispute settled in Sweden.

2010
of noK 61 million in restructuring costs for 2010, noK 42 million relates 
to co-localisation in Sweden. the remaining noK 19 million relates to staff 
reduction in VG, Fædrelandsvennen and Sandrew Metronome.

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment and investment property of noK 
416 million relates to sale of property used by Media norge trykk oslo AS.
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Gain on sale of subsidiaries and joint ventures of noK 62 million relates mainly 
to car & boat Media SAS (noK 55 million).

A new law regarding Agreement-based pension (AFp) in norway was approved 
on 19 February 2010. Schibsted has accounted for the old AFp-plan as a 
defined benefit plan. in 2010, a gain of noK 27 million is recognised related to 
curtailment and settlement of obligations recognised related to the old AFp-
plan in relation to employees being comprised by the new AFp-plan. 

Schibsted has recognised a gain of noK 1,518 million related to the 
transaction in which Schibsted became a 100% owner of ScM France SAS 
(leboncoin.fr). prior to the transaction, Schibsted held a 50% ownership 
interest in the company and the investment was accounted for as a joint 
venture. in such business combinations achieved in stages, any previously held 
equity interest is to be remeasured at fair value with any resulting gain or loss 
recognised in profit or loss.

Acquisition related costs relates to ScM France SAS.

other includes settlement in a court case between dagbladet Medialab and 
nettby resulting in a cost of noK 24 million and litigation in Sweden.

note 9 
FInAnCIAl rISK MAnAGeMent

capital management
Schibsted is a listed company that aims to provide a competitive rate of return 
based on healthy finances. Schibsted aims to maximise the shareholders’ 
return through long-term growth in the share price and dividend. 

the Group’s strategy and vision entail a high rate of change and development 
of the Group’s operations. Schibsted’s capital structure must be sufficiently 
robust in order to maintain the desired freedom of action and utilise growth 
opportunities based on strict assessments relating to allocation of capital.

the Group’s capital consists of net interest-bearing borrowings and equity:

2011 2010

non-current interest-bearing borrowings 1,907 1,906

current interest-bearing borrowings 523 572

current interest-bearing securities 10 8

cash and cash equivalents 778 650

net interest-bearing borrowings 1,642 1,820

Group equity 6,659 7,006
net gearing (net interest-bearing 
 borrowings/equity) 0.25 0.26

undrawn long-term bank facilities 3,260 2,984

Schibsted will emphasise having a fixed dividend payout ratio which, over time, is 
to be 25–40 per cent of the Group’s normalised cash flow per share. in years when 
there is an economic slowdown, the company will try to pay dividend at the upper 
part of the target interval provided that the Group’s capital structure allows this.

Financing and control of refinancing risk is handled on the parent company 
level. Schibsted has a diversified loan portfolio both in terms of sourcing and 
maturity profile. the most important financing sources are the norwegian 
commercial paper market and banks. Schibsted does not have an external 
credit rating. the financial flexibility is considered to be good and the Group’s 
ratio of net interest-bearing borrowings to gross operating profit was 0.8 at the 
end of 2011. this is on a level with the pronounced goal of 1–2.

Available liquidity should at all times be equal to at least 10 per cent of 
expected annual revenues. Available liquidity refers to the Group’s cash and 
cash equivalents and available long-term bank facilities. 

Schibsted has a conservative placement policy where excess liquidity is used 
for loan repayments. until due date the excess liquidity is temporarily placed 
in the Group’s cash pool, and at times in the short-term money market with 
banks the Group has credit facilities in.

Financial risk
Schibsted ASA has a treasury department responsible for financing and 
controlling of financial risks, such as interest and foreign exchange risk, 
liquidity risk and credit risk.
  
Foreign exchange risk
norwegian kroner are Schibsted’s base currency, but the Group is through its 
business outside norway also exposed to changes in other countries’ exchange 
rates, mainly euro and Swedish kronor. Schibsted has foreign exchange 
exposure relating to both balance sheet monetary items and to net assets in 
foreign operations. Schibsted uses loans in foreign currencies, forward contracts 
and swap agreements to reduce the foreign exchange exposure. the Group’s 
monetary items exposure appears in note 22 interest-bearing borrowings and 
in note 18 cash and cash equivalents. As at 31.12.2011 the Group had entered 
into several forward contracts and a interest rate and currency swap agreement 
involving the purchase and sale of currencies for this purpose.

currency gains and losses relating to borrowings and forward contracts which 
hedge net investments in foreign operations are recognised in comprehensive 
income until the foreign operation is disposed of. other currency gains and 
losses are recognised in the income statement on an ongoing basis as other 
financial income or expense. 

As at 31.12.2011 Schibsted has the following forward contracts, which all 
mature in 2012:

currency amount noK

Forward contracts, sale eur 50 388

Forward contracts, sale chF 11 67

Forward contracts, sale SeK 182 158

Forward contracts, purchase SeK 152 132

As at 31.12.2011 forward contracts for the sale of SeK 182 million are related 
to hedging of net investments in foreign operations. Fair value of the contracts 
accounted for as hedges was noK -4 million as at 31.12.2011. Fair value of 
other forward contracts was noK 6 million as at 31.12.2011.

cash flows in foreign currencies relating to considerable investments or 
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significant individual transactions are hedged by using financial instruments. 
At year-end the Group had no such contracts. the Group’s foreign exchange 
exposure relating to operations is low, since most of the cash flows take place 
in the individual businesses local currency. 

As at 31.12.2011 Schibsted has the following interest rate and currency swap, 
which mature in 2013:

currency amount noK

interest rate and currency swap eur 38 295

the interest rate and currency swap agreement is linked to the bond of noK 300 
million issued in december 2010 (iSin no001059325.4), where all payments of 
interests during the loan period and the final repayment of the loan at maturity 
in 2013 are fully matched. the agreement is accounted for as a hedge. the fair 
value of the agreement was noK 5 million as at 31.12.2011.  
   
Schibsted follows a currency hedging strategy where net investments in foreign 
operations are hedged. the degree to which hedging is carried out has been kept 
stable during 2011. As of 31.12.2011 50 per cent of the Group’s net interest-
bearing borrowings was in eur, including forward contracts and the interest 
rate and currency swap. the remaining interest-bearing borrowings, including 
forward contracts, are denominated in noK and SeK.    
  
the sensitivity of exchange rate fluctuations is as follows: if noK changes by 
10 per cent compared to the actual rate as at 31.12.2011 for SeK and eur, the 
Group’s net interest-bearing borrowings (including currency derivatives) will 
change by approximately noK 118 million. currency effects will have a limited 
effect on Group profits since any change in value will be tied to instruments 
hedging the net foreign investments, but will change the net interest-bearing 
borrowings to gross operating profit ratio by approximately 0.05.  
   
A change in exchange rates also affects the translation of net foreign assets 
to noK. the equity effect of these changes are limited by the Group’s currency 
hedging, where changes in the value of net foreign assets are mitigated by 
changes in the value of the Group’s foreign-denominated interest-bearing 
borrowings and currency derivatives.    
 
interest rate risk     
Schibsted has floating interest rates on its interest-bearing borrowings, see 
note 22 interest-bearing borrowings and is thereby influenced by changes in the 
interest market. A change of 1 percentage point in the floating interest rate means 
a change in Schibsted’s interest expenses of approximately noK 24 million. 

raw materials risk      
Schibsted is a consumer of newsprint and is therefore exposed to price changes. A 
change in the price of 1 per cent has an impact on raw materials costs for the Group 
of approximately noK 8 million per year. newsprint prices in norway, Sweden and 
Spain are negotiated annually with suppliers and have already been settled for 2012. 

credit risk     
the Group has recorded a low level of losses relating to trade receivables, see 
note 17 trade and other receivables.    
 
there is a limited credit risk relating to the Group’s circulation revenues since 
many of the Group’s products are sold on the basis of prepayment (newspaper 

subscriptions). For parts of the Group’s advertising revenue, deposit schemes 
and credit insurance have been established. For private online advertising 
payment is to a large extent made by charging the customer’s credit card or 
phone at the time the advertisement is ordered. net carrying amount of the 
Group’s financial assets, except for equity instruments, represents maximum 
credit exposure, and the exposure is disclosed in note 10 Financial instruments 
by category. exposure related to the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in 
note 17 trade and other receivables.    
 
liquidity risk     
At the year end he Group’s portfolio of loans and loan facilities is well diversified 
both related to maturity profile and lenders.    
 
At the end of 2011 Schibsted has a long-term liquidity reserve of noK 4.0 billion 
and net interest-bearing borrowings are noK 1,642 million. the liquidity reserve 
corresponds to 28 per cent of the Group’s turnover. the Group has as target 
that the aggregate liquidity reserve should be at least 10 per cent of the next 12 
months’ expected turnover.      

Schibsted’s loan agreements contain financial covenants regarding the ratio of 
net interest-bearing borrowings to gross operating profit (ebitdA). the ratio 
shall normally not exceed 3, but can be reported at higher levels up to three 
quarters during the loan period, as long the ratio stays below 4. 



SchibSted AnnuAl report 2011
notes / Group

122

note 10 
FInAnCIAl InStruMentS BY CAteGorY

carrying amount of assets and liabilities are divided into categories as follows:

note
Balance as at 

31.12.2011

Financial 
assets and 

liabilities at fair 
value through 
profit or loss

loans and 
receivables

Financial 
 assets avail-
able for sale

other financial 
liabilities

non-financial 
instruments

intangible assets 11 9,611  -  -  -  - 9,611 

property, plant and equipment and investment property 12 1,992  -  -  -  - 1,992 

investments in associated companies 13 492  -  -  -  - 492 

non-current financial assets 14 143  -  - 143  -  - 

deferred tax assets 30 58  -  -  -  - 58 

other non-current assets 15 213  - 196  -  - 17 

inventories 16 143  -  -  -  - 143 

trade and other receivables 17 2,406 11 2,028  -  - 367 

current financial assets 14 500  -  - 500  -  - 

cash and cash equivalents 18 778  - 778  -  -  - 

total assets 16,336 11 3,002 643  - 12,680 

deferred tax liabilities 30 798  -  -  -  - 798 

pension liabilities 21 1,455  -  -  -  - 1,455 

non-current interest-bearing borrowings 22 1,907  -  -  - 1,907  - 

other non-current liabilities 23 339  -  -  - 305 34 

current interest-bearing borrowings 22 523  -  -  - 523  - 

income tax payable 30 428  -  -  -  - 428 

other current liabilities 24 4,227 4  -  - 4,223  - 

total liabilities 9,677 4  -  - 6,958 2,715 

note
Balance as at 

31.12.2010

Financial 
assets and 

liabilities at fair 
value through 
profit or loss

loans and 
receivables

Financial 
 assets avail-
able for sale

other financial 
liabilities

non-financial 
instruments

intangible assets 11 9,728  -  -  -  - 9,728 

property, plant and equipment and investment property 12 2,112  -  -  -  - 2,112 

investments in associated companies 13 465  -  -  -  - 465 

non-current financial assets 14 149  -  - 149  -  - 

deferred tax assets 30 102  -  -  -  - 102 

other non-current assets 15 234  - 211  -  - 23 

inventories 16 139  -  -  -  - 139 

trade and other receivables 17 2,504 4 2,096  -  - 404 

current financial assets 14 426  -  - 426  -  - 

cash and cash equivalents 18 650  - 650  -  -  - 

total assets 16,509 4 2,957 575  - 12,973 

deferred tax liabilities 30 757  -  -  -  - 757 

pension liabilities 21 1,499  -  -  -  - 1,499 

non-current interest-bearing borrowings 22 1,906  -  -  - 1,906  - 

other non-current liabilities 23 277  -  -  - 207 70 

current interest-bearing borrowings 22 572  -  -  - 572  - 

income tax payable 30 375  -  -  -  - 375 

other current liabilities 24 4,117 4  -  - 4,113  - 

total liabilities 9,503 4  -  - 6,798 2,701 
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the fair value of the Group’s financial derivatives is as follows:

assets liabilities

2011 2010 2011 2010

Forward contracts 6  - 4  4 
interest rate and 
currency swap 5  4  -  - 

total 11  4 4  4 

the Group’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value, 
 analysed by valuation method, are as follows: 

31.12.2011: level 1 level 2 level 3 total

Financial assets available for sale 618  10  15 643 
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss  -  11  - 11 
Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss  -  (4)  -  (4)

31.12.2010: level 1 level 2 level 3 total

Financial assets available for sale 522  14  39 575 
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss  -  4  - 4 
Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss  -  (4)  -  (4)

the different valuation methods have been defined as follows:
level 1: Valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 

identical assets or liabilities.
level 2: Valuation based on inputs other than quoted prices included within 

level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).

level 3: Valuation based on inputs for the asset or liability that are 
unobservable market data.

the fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted 
market prices at the balance sheet date. A market is regarded as active if quoted 
prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry 
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and these prices represent actual 
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. these 
instruments are included in level 1, and comprise primarily equity instruments 
quoted on the oslo Stock exchange and on nasdaq oMX in Stockholm. 

the fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market 
is determined by using valuation techniques. these valuation techniques 
maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as 
little as possible on entity specific estimates. if all significant inputs required to 
fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

if one or more of the significant inputs are not based on observable market 
data, the instrument is included in level 3.

changes in level 3 instruments:

2011 2010

net carrying amount 1.1 39 79

Additions 1 3

disposals  (26)  (8)
changes in fair value recognised in 
 comprehensive income 1  81 
changes in fair value recognised in  
profit or loss  -  (6)
reclassification adjustement from com-
prehensive income to profit (loss)  
by derecognition  -  (108)

translation differences  -  (2)

net carrying amount 31.12 15 39
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note 11 
IntAnGIBle ASSetS

Goodwill

other 
 intangible 

assets total

1.1–31.12.2011

net carrying amount 1.1.2011 6,919 2,809 9,728

Additions - 164 164

Additions on purchase of businesses 120 67 187

disposals -  (6)  (6)

disposals on sale of businesses  (1)  (19)  (20)

reclassification  -  13  13 

Amortisation for the year  -  (211)  (211)

impairment losses  (120)  (65)  (185)

translation differences  (40)  (19)  (59)

net carrying amount 31.12. 2011 6,878 2,733 9,611

as at 31.12.2011

cost 8,436 3,754 12,190

Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses  (1,558)  (1,021)  (2,579)

net carrying amount 6,878 2,733 9,611

1.1–31.12.2010

net carrying amount 1.1.2010 4,941 2,281 7,222

Additions - 174 174

Additions on purchase of businesses 2,635 897 3,532

disposals -  (2)  (2)

disposals on sale of businesses  (357)  (156)  (513)

reclassification  (35)  (2)  (37)

Amortisation for the year -  (254)  (254)

impairment losses  (77)  (15)  (92)

translation differences  (188)  (114)  (302)

net carrying amount 31.12. 2010 6,919 2,809 9,728

as at 31.12.2010

cost 8,605 4,352 12,957

Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses  (1,686)  (1,543)  (3,229)

net carrying amount 6,919 2,809 9,728

other intangible assets include: 

 expected useful life carrying amount

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

trademarks indefinite 2,295 2,255

trademarks Finite 88 109

Software and licenses Finite 272 314

customer relations Finite 78 131

total 2,733 2,809

trademarks with indefinite expected useful lives can be specified on 
cash-generating units as follows:

operating segments 2011 2010

Media norge
Media houses 
 Scandinavia 439 439

Schibsted Sverige
Media houses 
 Scandinavia 51 51

ScM Spain online classifieds 840 846

ScM France online classifieds 704 709

ScM italy online classifieds 160 161

ScM belgium online classifieds 49 49

ScM ireland online classifieds 47  - 

ScM romania online classifieds 5  - 

total 2,295 2,255

trade marks with an indefinite expected useful life have been acquired through 
acquisitions and are expected to generate cash flows over an indefinite period 
of time.

intangible assets with a finite expected useful life are as a general rule 
amortised on a straight line basis over the expected useful life. the 
amortisation period of intangible assets are 1.5–10 years. the amortisation 
method, expected useful life and any residual value are assessed annually.

Schibsted has a clear goal of building a foundation for future growth by 
establishing in new markets. this is done to a large extent within Schibsted 
classified Media through establishing operations that are primarily based on 
the successful Swedish blocket.se concept.

For successful establishments, technology, trademarks and goodwill that may 
have a significant value, is developed through the expenditure incurred. Such 
expenditure do not meet the requirements for recognition as intangible assets, 
and all the expenditure related to such roll-outs are thus recognised as an 
expense when it is incurred. Such investments reduced Gross operating profit 
by noK 412 million in 2011 and noK 225 million in 2010.
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Goodwill can be specified on cash-generating units as follows: 

operating segments 2011 2010

Media norge Media houses Scandinavia 624 624

Schibsted Forlag Media houses Scandinavia 58 58

VG Group Media houses Scandinavia 61 61

Schibsted Vekst Media houses Scandinavia 5  - 

Schibsted Sverige Media houses Scandinavia 397 365

Møteplassen Media houses Scandinavia 28 28

20 Minutos Spain Media houses international  - 112

eesti Meedia Media houses international 169 161

Finn.no online classifieds 270 270

hitta online classifieds 117 117

ScM France online classifieds 2,499 2,518

ScM Spain online classifieds 2,043 2,060

ScM Sweden online classifieds 446 446

ScM belgium online classifieds 79 80

ScM ireland online classifieds 49 -

other online classifieds online classifieds 33 19

total 6,878 6,919

Schibsted has in 2011 recognised impairment losses of noK 185 million related to 
goodwill and other intangible assets. As a consequence of adverse development 
in profitability, impairment losses of noK 111 million related to 20 Minutos Spain 
and noK 9 million related to tasteline (in operating segment Media houses 
Scandinavia) has been recognised. impairment loss other intangible assets is 
mainly related to intangible assets in Schibsted classified Media (noK 54 million) 
in connection with adjustment to the classification of expenditure incurred in 
ongoing development and upgrading of web sites.

Schibsted has in 2010 recognised impairment losses of noK 92 million related to 
goodwill and other intangible assets. included in the amount was noK 37 million 
related to goodwill in Kapaza and noK 15 million related to goodwill in Finn Foto 
as a consequence of adverse development in profitability. in addition noK 17 
million was related to nettby as a result of closing down the operation. 

recoverable amount of the cash-generating units was estimated based on 
value in use. expected cash flows in 2011 are discounted using a pre-tax 
discount rate (WAcc) from 10.5 per cent to 13.4 per cent (9.2% to 12.0%). 
When WAcc is determined, consideration is given to the risk-free interest rate 
with risk premium for the relevant country as well as business specific risk.
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Buildings and 
land

investment 
properties

construction in 
progress

plant and 
machinery

equipment, 
furniture and 

similar assets total

1.1–31.12.2011

net carrying amount 1.1.2011  882  63  6  763  398  2,112 

Additions  18  -  23  16  133  190 

disposals  -  -  -  -  (6)  (6)

disposals on sale of businesses  -  -  -  -  (1)  (1)

reclassification  18  -  (2)  -  (16)  - 

depreciation for the year  (36)  -  -  (116)  (142)  (294)

impairment losses  -  -  -  -  (6)  (6)

translation differences  -  -  -  -  (3)  (3)

net carrying amount 31.12.2011  882  63  27  663  357  1,992 

as at 31.12.2011

cost  1,031  63  27  1,626  980  3,727 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses  (149)  -  -  (963)  (623)  (1,735)

net carrying amount  882  63  27  663  357  1,992 

1.1–31.12.2011

net carrying amount 1.1.2010  1,184  63  7  861  407  2,522 

Additions  26  -  6  31  190  253 

Additions on purchase of businesses  -  -  -  -  3  3 

disposals  (2)  -  -  -  (9)  (11)

disposals on sale of businesses  (281)  -  -  -  (7)  (288)

reclassification  3  -  (7)  8  (5)  (1)

depreciation for the year  (44)  -  -  (128)  (162)  (334)

impairment losses  -  -  -  -  (18)  (18)

translation differences  (4)  -  -  (9)  (1)  (14)

net carrying amount 31.12.2010  882  63  6  763  398  2,112 

as at 31.12.2010

cost  994  63  6  1,748  1,231  4,042 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses  (112)  -  -  (985)  (833)  (1,930)

net carrying amount  882  63  6  763  398  2,112 

note 12 
propertY, plAnt AnD  eQuIpMent 
AnD InVeStMent propertY
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investment properties and property, plant and equipment, excluding land, 
are depreciated on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives. 
depreciation schedules reflect the assets’ residual value. items of property, 
plant and equipment where material components can be identified with different 
useful lives are depreciated over the individual component’s expected useful life. 

depreciation is calculated over the estimated useful lives: buildings (25–50 
years), plant and machinery (5–20 years), equipment, furniture and similar 
assets (3–10 years). the depreciation method, expected useful life and any 
residual value are reviewed annually.

investment property
Schibsted has one property classified as investment property as at 31.12.2011. 
the property is an unused property reserve in Stavanger with a carrying 
amount of noK 63 million. A valuation from real estate agent was obtained 
as at 30.6.2009 and the fair value as at 31.12.2011 is not expected to deviate 
significantly from the carrying amount.

lease agreements
property, plant and equipment include assets owned under financial lease 
agreements. these assets have a cost of noK 24 million and a carying amount 
of noK 13 million. depreciation amounts to noK 2 million for 2011.

Schibsted has lease obligations related to off-balance sheet operating assets, 
mainly office buildings. rental expenses were noK 384 million in 2011 and 
noK 338 million in 2010. the most significant leases relate to the leases of 
VG’s premises at Akersgata 55 (the agreement expires in 2023), Media norge’s 
premises in Sandakerveien 121 (the agreement expires in 2025), Schibsted 
Sverige’s premises in Västra Järnvägsgatan 21 in Stockholm (the agreement 
expires 2020) and Aftenposten’s premises at biskop Gunnerus gate 14A 
(the agreement expires in 2013). the most significant of the Group’s leases 
contains a right to an extension.

Future minimum payments under non-cancellable operational leases 
where schibsted is the lessee are as follows: 

2011 2010

Within one year 383 365

between one and five years 1,094 963

More than five years 1,383 1,141

noK 29 million is recognised as sub lease payments related to the Group’s 
operating leases in 2011. expected future minimum lease payments for non-
cancellable subleases are noK 57 million as at 31.12.2011.

Schibsted’s rental income related to operating leases for office premises was 
noK 16 million for 2011 and noK 11 million in 2010.

Future minimum payments under non-cancellable operating leases where 
schibsted is the lessor are as follows:

2011 2010

Within one year 16 13

between one and five years 33 40

More than five years 11 2
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share of profit of associated companies and carrying amount of investments  
in associated companies are as follows:

location ownership % share of profit (loss) carrying amount

31.12.2011 2011 2010 2011 2010

Metro nordic Sweden Ab Stockholm 35 29 26 351 344

other 10 10 141 121

total 39 36 492 465

note 13 
InVeStMentS In  
ASSoCIAteD CoMpAnIeS

the development in the carrying amount of investments in associated 
 companies is as follows:

2011 2010

carrying amount 1.1 465 411

Additions 16 7

disposals  -  (2)

Share of profit of associated companies 39 36

dividends received  (25)  (13)

translation differences  - 24

other changes  (3) 2

carrying amount 31.12 492 465

the Group’s share of assets, liabilities, operating revenues and share of 
profit of associated companies are as follows:

2011 2010

Assets  648  647 

liabilities  (156)  (182)

carrying amount  492  465 

operating revenues  497  437 

share of profit (loss)  39  36 

 



SchibSted AnnuAl report 2011
notes / Group

129

within a period of one month from 29 September 2012, to sell the shares back 
to Schibsted at a price between noK 26 and 27, adjusted for dividends. these 
shares were from 2009 and until the sale to the strategic media owners in 2011 
included in a trS-agreement under which Schibsted had the financial interest, 
but not the voting power of the shares.

the agreements implies that Schibsted has financial assets and financial liabilities 
representing the rights and obligations Schibsted has towards the counterpart. the 
assets are in the balance sheet included in current financial assets at noK 490 
million (noK 413 million), and the liabilities are included in other current liabilities 
at noK 475 million (noK 485 million), see note 24 other current liabilities.

note 15 
otHer non-Current ASSetS

other non-current assets consist of:

2011 2010

loans to associated companies 1 1

prepaid expenses 17 23

other receivables 195 210

total 213 234

there are no significant differences between the fair value and the carrying 
value of loans to associated companies and other receivables as the interest 
calculation is based on a market rate.

note 16 
InVentorIeS

inventories consist of:

2011 2010

books 54 51

newsprint purchased 54 54

dVds and publication rights 35 34

total 143 139

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value was noK 1 million in 2011 
and noK 1 million in 2010.

inventories carried at fair value less cost of sales were noK 3 million as at 
31.12.2011 and noK 1 million as at 31.12.2010.

note 14 
FInAnCIAl ASSetS

the development in carrying amount of investments categorised as 
 available for sale is as follows:

2011 2010

As at 1.1 575 702

Additions 2 12

disposals  (29)  (12)

changes in fair value
    change recognised in comprehensive 

income  95  (21)

   change recognised in profit or loss  -  (6)

    reclassification adjustment from 
comprehensive income to profit (loss) 
by derecognition  (1)  (108)

translation differences  1  8 

as at 31.12 643 575

of which non-current financial assets 143 149

of which current financial assets 500 426

Financial assets consist of:

2011 2010

shares

    listed Scandinavia  
(Aspiro Ab and polaris Media ASA) 127 109

    listed Scandinavia (Aspiro Ab and polaris 
Media ASA) – trS agreements and 
agreements with continuing financial 
involvement 490 413

   unlisted 16 45

current interest-bearing securities 10 8

total financial assets 643 575

Financial assets comprise shares, including an ownership interest of 7.1 per cent 
in polaris Media ASA and an ownership interest of 18.3 per cent in Aspiro Ab, 
and interest-bearing securities. 

in addition financial instruments that are transferred to new owners but where 
the transfers do not meet the requirements for derecognition as Schibsted has 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership or because Schibsted 
has a continuing financial involvement in the transferred asset, are included.

this relates to a total return Swap (trS) related to 21.3 per cent of the shares 
of Aspiro Ab where the shares in 2009 were sold from Schibsted to new owners. 
through the trS agreement, Schibsted has the financial interest, but not the 
voting power of the shares.

this also relates to agreements related to 36.3 per cent of the shares of 
polaris Media ASA. these shares are in 2011 sold to strategic media owners. 
the strategic media owners have a time-limited right, but not an obligation, 
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As at 31.12.2011 trade receivables of noK 480 million were past due but not 
impaired, compared to noK 521 million as at 31.12.2010. these receivables 
relate to a number of independent customers in different locations.

the aging of the past due, not impaired trade receivables, is as follows:

2011 2010

up to 45 days  355  390 

More than 45 days  125  131 

total 480 521

note 18 
CASH AnD CASH eQuIVAlentS

2011 2010

cash and bank 778 650

the carrying amounts of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are denomi-
nated in the following currencies:

2011 2010

noK 88 578

SeK 300  (24)

eur 330 30

eeK  - 47

other 60 19

total 778 650

carrying amount of cash and bank deposits are considered to represent a 
reasonable approximation of fair value. Schibsted has a multi-currency cash pool 
with danske bank in which almost all the nordic subsidiaries are included. the 
cash pool has been established to optimize liquidity management for Schibsted. 

the Group has an overdraft facility under the cash pool system of noK 400 
million. At the end of 2011 this facility was not drawn. 

excess liquidity is mainly placed in the cash pool or in the short-term money 
market. the bank deposits of subsidiaries outside the nordic countries are 
deposited at local banks. 

the deposit and borrowing interest rates in danske bank are based on ibor rates 
for each currency with a subtraction or addition of a margin. the ibor rates are 
fixed daily in the market. A cross-currency netting of margins is established for 
the currencies in the cash pool. 

other bank deposits are credited interests based on the bank’s daily deposit 
rates in each country. 

of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents, noK 1 million are considered to be 
restricted as of 31.12.2011. 

note 17 
trADe AnD otHer reCeIVABleS

trade receivables and other receivables consist of:

2011 2010

trade receivables  1,881  1,889 
less provision for impairment of trade 
receivables  (79)  (71)

trade receivables (net)  1,802  1,818 

prepaid expenses and accrued revenue  283  303 

income tax receivables  84  101 

Financial derivatives  11  4 

other receivables  226  278 

total  2,406  2,504 

the carrying amount of trade and other receivables are considered to represent 
a reasonable approximation of fair value.

the maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date for trade and other 
receivables is the carrying value of the receivables. in some group entities credit 
insurance and other agreement are obtained. carrying value of trade receivables 
with security is noK 248 million as at 31.12.2011.

movements in the Group’s provision for impairment of trade receivables are 
as follows:

2011 2010

As at 1.1  (71)  (76)

provision for impairment during the year  (48)  (43)
receivables written off during the year as 
uncollectible  25  30 

unused amounts reversed  14  7 

disposal on sale of group companies  1  9 

translation differences  1  2 

as at 31.12  (79)  (71)

As at 31.12.2011 trade receivables of noK 180 million were impaired. the 
amount of the provision was noK 79 million. As at 31.12.2010 trade receivables 
of noK 81 million were impaired and the provision was noK 71 million. 

the aging of impaired trade receivables is as follows:

2011 2010

not due* 98 17

up to 45 days 18 8

More than 45 days 64 56

total 180 81

* Also includes provisions not individualised
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number of shares 
2011

number of shares 
2010

  outstanding treasury shares issued outstanding treasury shares issued

As at 1.1 103,773,175 4,230,440 108,003,615 103,303,474 4,700,141 108,003,615
increase in treasury 
shares  (1,129,301) 1,129,301 - - - -
decrease in treasury 
shares 4,297,783  (4,297,783) - 469,701  (469,701) -

as at 31.12 106,941,657 1,061,958 108,003,615 103,773,175 4,230,440 108,003,615

note 19 
nuMBer oF SHAreS

the development in share capital and other paid-in capital is set out in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity. the development in the number 
of issued and outstanding shares is as follows:

the Group’s share capital consists of 108,003,615 shares of noK 1 par value. 
no shareholder may own or vote at a shareholders’ meeting for more than 
30% of the shares.

the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting has given the board authorisation to acquire 
treasury shares up to 10,800,361 shares (10%). the authorisation was renewed 
at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on 13 May 2011 for a period until the 
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting in 2012. At the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on 
11 May 2012 the board will present a resolution to extend the authorisation for 
the board to purchase and dispose of up to 10% of the share capital in Schibsted 
ASA according to the norwegian public limited liability companies act under the 
conditions evident from the notice of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting.

in 2011 Schibsted acquired 1,129,301 treasury shares at a total purchase price 
of noK 164 million.

in January 2011, Schibsted used 247,603 treasury shares at noK 171.35 as 
part payment when acquiring shares in Media norge. in connection with the 
merger of Schibsted and Media norge in May 2011, 3,981,184 treasury shares 
at noK 162.10 were transferred to the former minority holders of Media 
norge. in July 2011, Schibsted transferred 32,388 treasury shares at noK 
172.60 to key managers in connection with the performance-based share 
purchase programme. the total value of treasury shares used for the purposes 
above is noK 693 million. 

in november 2011, 36,608 treasury shares at noK 141.70 were sold in 
connection with an offer to employees to purchase shares at a discounted 
price. the total value consideration was noK 5 million.

in August 2010, Schibsted transferred 31,169 treasury shares at noK 126.00 
to key managers in connection with the performance-based share purchase 
programme. in december 2010 Schibsted transferred, as a part payment when 
acquiring shares in Media norge ASA, 242,181 shares at a price of noK 171.35 
per share. the total value of treasury shares used for the purposes above was 
noK 45 million. 

in december 2010, 36,211 treasury shares at noK 153.00 were sold in 
connection with an offer to employees to purchase shares at a discounted 
price. Schibsted sold 160,140 treasury shares in november and december 
2010 to Grouo management in connection with the exercise of options. the 
total value was noK 28 million.

As at 31.12.2011 Schibsted held 1,061,958 treasury shares. the background 
to the purchases is that the board of directors has considered the repurchase 
of shares as advantageous compared to alternative investments and in order 
to optimise the capital structure of the Group. in addition shares are acquired 
in order to be used in connection with the employee share programmes and in 
connection with acquisitions.

during the first quarter of 2012 the company has reduced its number of treasury 
shares by 69,080 in connection with exercised options in the Groups option 
scheme for key personnel. the holding as at 29 March 2012 was  992,878 shares.



SchibSted AnnuAl report 2011
notes / Group

132

note 20 
DIVIDenDS

At Schibsted’s Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on 11 May 2012 a dividend of noK 
3.50 per share will be proposed (total noK 375 million). no provision for this 
dividend has been recognised in the Group’s balance sheet as at 31.12.2011.

in 2011 dividends of noK 3.00 per share were paid (total noK 324 million).

note 21 
penSIon plAnS

Schibsted has occupational pension plans for its employees in norwegian 
companies, mainly with Storebrand livsforsikring AS. these pension plans 
meet the requirements of the Act on Mandatory occupational pensions 
applicable to norwegian companies. Schibsted is entitled to make changes to 
the pension plans. the occupational pension plans are partly established as 
defined benefit plans and partly as defined contribution plans. A significant 
part of the existing funded defined benefit plans are closed.

the terms of the funded defined benefit plans are mainly uniform. the benefits 
are mainly dependent upon number of years of employment, salary level 
at retirement age and the amount of benefits from the national insurance 
pension. the majority of the funded defined benefit plans comprise retirement 
pension for life from 67 years and full retirement pension amounts to 
approximately 66% of the basis (limited to 12G (national insurance basic 
amount)) including assumed pension from the national insurance pension 
(based on calculated national insurance pension). Several of the plans include 
spouse pension, child pension and disability pension.

As at 31.12.2011 the funded defined benefit plans in norway covered 
approximately 2,550 working members and approximately 1,700 retirees. 
estimated contributions in 2012 to the above mentioned funded defined 
benefit plans amount to approximately noK 160 million.

the terms related to annual contributions to the defined contribution plans 
are mainly uniform, and for most companies the contribution amounts to 5% 
of salaries within the interval from 1G to 6G and 8% in the interval from 6G to 
12G. the plans include disability pension.

in addition to the pension obligations that arises from the funded defined 
benefit plans, the Group’s norwegian companies have unfunded defined 
benefit obligations related to disability pensions (if not covered by other 
pension plans or insurances), supplementary pensions for salaries above 12G, 
Agreement-based pension (AFp) and early retirement pensions.

A new law regarding Agreement-based pension (AFp) in norway was approved 
on 19 February 2010. Schibsted accounted for the old AFp-plan as a defined 
benefit plan. the new AFp-plan is a defined benefit multi-employer plan, 
but as sufficient information is not available, it is accounted for as if it was a 
defined contribution plan. in 2010, a gain of noK 27 million was recognised 

in other revenues and expenses related to curtailment and settlement of 
obligations recognised related to the old AFp-plan in relation to employees 
being comprised by the new AFp-plan.

Some norwegian subsidiaries made certain amendments to their pension 
plans in 2011. the amendments comprise change from unfunded defined 
benefit plans to insurance of disability benefits as well as other changes in 
benefits in existing plans. A gain of noK 99 million related to these changes 
is recognised in other revenues and expenses (see note 8 other revenues and 
expenses). A significant share of the restructuring costs related to operating 
segment Media houses Scandinavia (see note 8 other revenues and expenses) 
is related to pensions and is included in past service cost in the specification of 
net benefit expense below.

the Group’s companies outside norway have pension plans in accordance with 
local practice and local legislation. A significant part of the Group’s pension 
schemes in Sweden is established in multi-employer plans. these multi-
employer plans are defined benefit plans, but the Group does not have access 
to the necessary information for the accounting years 2011 and 2010 required 
to account for these plans as benefit plans, and the plans are therefore 
accounted for as defined contribution plans.

Approximately 40% in 2011 and approximately 25% in 2010 of the 
expenses reported in benefit expense defined contribution plans relate to 
multi-employer defined benefit plans which are accounted for as defined 
contribution plans in accordance with iAS 19.30 (new AFp-plan in norway and 
plans in Sweden).

the amounts recognised in profit or loss are as follows:

2011 2010

current service cost 170 167

interest cost 161 177

expected return on plan assets  (140)  (151)

Actuarial gains or losses recognised  (9) 7

past service cost 152 17

the effect of curtailment or settlement  (147)  (27)

net benefit expense defined benefit 
plans 187 190

benefit expense defined contribution plans 162 140

net benefit expense 349 330
of which included in personnel expenses 
(note 27) 341 351
of which included in other revenues  
and expenses 8  (21)
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the amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:

2011 2010

present value of funded defined benefit 
obligations 3,755 3,319

Fair value of plan assets  (2,926)  (2,835)

present value (net of plan assets) of 
funded defined benefit obligations 829  484 
present value of unfunded defined bene-
fit obligations 862 812

unrecognised actuarial gains or losses  (236) 203

net defined benefit obligation 1,455 1,499
Social security tax included in present 
value of defined benefit obligations 209 160

changes in present value of defined benefit obligations are as follows: 
      

2011 2010

present value of defined benefit 
 obligations as at 1.1 4,131 4,072

current service cost 170 167

interest cost 161 177

Actuarial gains or losses 424  (13)

benefits paid  (170)  (194)

past service cost 152 17

Acquisition and disposal of operations  -  (68)

curtailments and settlement  (251)  (27)

present value of defined benefit 
 obligations as at 31.12 4,617 4,131

changes in fair value of plan assets are as follows:

2011 2010

Fair value of plan assets as at 1.1 2,835  2,798 

expected return on plan assets 140  151 

Actuarial gains or losses  (31)  (109)

contributions by employer 135  130 

benefits paid  (95)  (88)

Acquisition and disposal of operations  -  (47)

curtailments and settlement  (58)  - 

Fair value of plan assets as at 31.12 2,926  2,835 

amounts of defined benefit obligations, plan assets, deficit and 
 experience adjustments are as follows:

2011 2010 2009 2008

present value of defined benefit 
obligations as at 31.12 4,617 4,131 4,072 3,108

Fair value of plan assets as at 31.12 2,926 2,835 2,798 2,007

Deficit / (surplus) 1,691 1,296 1,274 1,101
experience adjustments defined 
benefit obligations 66  (165)  (282) 110
experience adjustments plan 
assets 31 109  102  (87)

experience adjustments are the effects of differences between previous 
actuarial assumptions and what has actually occured.

the principal assumptions presented below are used in calculating net 
benefit expense and the net benefit obligation for the Group’s defined 
benefit plans: 

Benefit expense pension obligation

2011 2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

discount rate 4.00% 4.50% 3.00% 4.00%

expected return on plan assets 5.25% 5.70% - -

expected salary increases 4.00% 4.25% 4.00% 4.00%
expected adjustment national 
insurance basic amount 3.75% 4.00% 3.75% 3.75%

expected pension increases 1.25% 1.50% 0.40% 1.25%
demographic assumption morta-
lity rate K2005 K2005 K2005 K2005

the assumption regarding expected pension increases is used for pensions 
being increased in accordance with the Act on company pensions. For pension 
agreements containing specific clauses on increases in pension, those clauses 
are applied.

the Group’s plan assets as at 31.12 consist of:

2011 2010

Shares 19% 21%

Short-term bonds 33% 34%

Money market investments 2% 9%

real estate 16% 16%

long-term bonds 7% 6%

credit 20% 8%

other 3% 6%

total 100% 100%

the actual return on plan assets (value-adjusted return in relevant portfolio 
of assets) was approximately 3.0 per cent in 2011 and approximately 6.4 per 
cent in 2010. 
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the loan facility that was entered into in August 2010 is a multi-currency loan 
facility totalling eur 500 million, and the lenders consists of seven nordic 
and international banks. the facility has two tranches, where eur 175 million 
matures in 2013 and eur 325 million matures in 2015. the facility was drawn 
with totally eur 78 million as of year-end 2011. the facility has interest 
terms based on euribor plus a margin. Schibsted must pay a commitment fee 
to maintain the facility’s availability. the commitment fee is calculated as a 
percentage of the loan margin, on the un-drawn part of the facility.

the Group has two bank loans of eur 25 million each. these loans were 
entered into in January 2011 and expires in January 2014 and January 2016. 
there are no installments before maturity date.

Schibsted ASA issued two unsecured bonds in the norwegian bond market at a 
total of noK 700 million in december 2010. the first loan, iSin no001059325.4, 
amounts to noK 300 million, reaches maturity in december 2013 and carries 
an interest of 3 months nibor plus 150 basis points. the second loan, iSin 
no001059326.2, amounts to noK 400 million, reaches maturity in december 
2015 and carries an interest of 3 months nibor plus 205 basis points.

the Group has issued loans in the norwegian commercial paper Market since 
March 2007. At the end of 2011 outstanding loans amounted to noK 450 million.

other loans consist mainly of loans from non-controlling interests of some 
subsidiaries. 

Schibsted’s loan agreements contain financial covenants regarding the ratio of 
net interest-bearing borrowings (nibd) to Gross operating profit (ebitdA). the 
reported ratio was well within the financial covenants as at 31.12.2011. See note 
9 Financial risk management – liquidity risk.

the Group has provided guarantees of noK 107 million. Mortgage debt is 
noK 85 million, which is Schibsted’s share of mortgage debt in joint ventures. 
carrying amount of assets pledged as security is noK 85 million.

Schibsted has available long-term credit facilities totalling approximately noK 
3.3 billion through the unutilised drawing right on the loan facility of eur 500 
million. in addition, Schibsted has short-term credit facilities of noK 400 million 
in the form of unutilised overdraft limits through the Group’s cash pool with 
danske bank, see note 18 cash and cash equivalents.

note 22 
IntereSt-BeArInG BorroWInGS

the Group has the following composition and maturity structure on its 
interest-bearing borrowings:

current non-current

2011 2010 2011 2010

commercial paper issues 450 250 - -

bond issues -  - 700 700

bank loans 50 316 1,199 1,175

Financial lease agreements 2 2 8 10

other loans 21 4 - 21

total 523 572 1,907 1,906

Maturity within 3 months 250 253 - -
Maturity between 3 months and 
1 year 273 319 - -

Maturity between 1 and 2 years - - 964 56

Maturity between 2 and 5 years - - 876 1,287

Maturity beyond 5 years - - 67 563

total 523 572 1,907 1,906

Almost all of the Group’s long term interest-bearing debt is at floating 
interest rates. For information on interest rate risk, see note 9 Financial risk 
management. the interest rate periods relating to the Group’s borrowings are 
between 1 and 6 months.

Schibsted refinanced the Group’s loan facilities in August 2010, issued bonds 
in december 2010 and received new bank loans in January 2011. the current 
terms of the Group’s interest- bearing borrowings as of 31.12.2011 has been 
reviewed and compared to the market pricing at year’s end, and the carrying 
value is considered to represent a reasonable approximation to fair value.

carrying amount in noK million of interest-bearing borrowing breaks down 
as follows by currency:

2011 2010

noK 1,053 1,178

SeK 521 327

eur 856 973

total 2,430 2,478

the Group has a eur bank loan of eur 7 million. the loan, from 2004, follows 
a repayment schedule with installments twice a year and final maturity in 2014. 
the interest terms on the loan is six month euribor with the addition of a margin.  

the Group has a bank loan of noK 202 million. the loan has a term of 12 years 
from 2007 and the interest terms are six month nibor with the addition of a 
margin. the loan has a repayment schedule with installments twice a year. the 
first installment is in 2012.
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note 25 
FInAnCIAl lIABIlItIeS relAteD 
to non-ControllInG IntereStS’ 
put optIonS

Development in financial liabilities recognised related to non-controlling 
interests’ put options is as follows:

2011 2010

As at 1.1 593 291

Additions 177 177

Settlement - (67)

disposals (16) -

change in fair value (9) 195

interest expenses 20 15

translation differences (3) (18)

as at 31.12 762 593

of which non-current (note 23) 218 124

of which current (note 24) 544 469

When non-controlling interests have put options related to shares in subsidiaries 
and Schibsted is recquired to acquire such shares, a financial liability is recognised.

the liabilities are measured at fair value which is based on the best estimate 
of future considerations. the estimates takes into account the principles for 
determination of the consideration in the existing agreements. the estimates 
take further into account, when relevant, management’s expectations regarding 
future economic development used in determining recoverable amount in 
impairment tests.

the liability is initially recognised directly in equity. change in fair value of the 
liability, except for interest expenses, is also recognised directly in equity.

liabilities recognised are related to non-controlling interests’ shareholdings 
in Schibsted espana S.l., infoJobs S.A., Flytteportalen AS, done deal ltd and 
Sibmedia interactive S.r.l. within the operating segment online classifieds, and 
lendo Ab, Mini Media Sweden Ab, prisjakt Sverige Ab, ServiceFinder Sverige Ab 
and duplo Media AS within operating segment Media houses Scandinavia.

of the non-current share of the liability as at 31.12.2011, noK 108 million is 
related to options exercisable in 2013, noK 97 million is related to options 
exercisable in 2014 -16 and noK 13 million is related to options exercisable  
in 2017.

note 23 
otHer non-Current lIABIlItIeS
other non-current liabilities consist of:

2011 2010

Financial liabilities related to non-control-
ling interests' put options (note 25) 218 124

provision for other obligations 13 49
contingent considerations business 
combinations 74 72

other long-term employment benefits 15 6

deferred revenue recognition 7 15

other non-current liabilities 12 11

total other non-current liabilities 339 277

Some business combination agreements include contingent consideration 
requirements based on future events, usually financial development. the 
estimated future consideration is recognised as liabilities. As at 31.12.2011 the 
total liability of noK 74 million relates to the business combination involving 
ScM France SAS, see note 5 business combinations.

note 24 
otHer Current lIABIlItIeS
other current liabilities consist of:

2011 2010

Financial liabilities related to non-control-
ling interests' put options (note 25) 544 469
Financial liabilities related to trS agre-
ements and agreements with continuing 
financial involvement (note 14) 475 485
contingent considerations business 
combinations 3 -

trade payables 652 802

prepaid revenues 737 637

public duties payable 518 466

Accrued salaries and wages 595 590

Accrued expenses 328 332

Financial derivatives (note 10) 4 4

provision for restructuring costs 112 70

other 259 262

total other current liabilities 4,227 4,117

the Group has no other significant liabilities with an uncertain payment date.

provision for restructruing costs as at 31.12.2011 is pertaining to accrued 
restructuring cost in the Scandinavian companies.



SchibSted AnnuAl report 2011
notes / Group

136

note 26 
rAW MAterIAlS AnD  
FInISHeD GooDS

raw materials and finished goods consist of:

2011 2010

newsprint, raw materials and purchased 
goods 1,032 1,001 

tV / Film production expenses 131 192 

changes in inventories  (4)  (1)

total 1,159 1,192 

note 27 
perSonnel eXpenSeS AnD 
SHAre-BASeD pAYMent

personnel expenses consist of:

2011 2010

Salaries and wages 3,681 3,497

Social security costs 782 730

net pension expense (note 21) 341 351

Share-based payment 25 18

other personnel expenses 131 115

total 4,960 4,711

number of man-years 7,839 7,643

Details of salary, variable pay and other benefits provided to group  
management in 2011 (in noK 1,000): 

name:
salary incl. holiday 

pay
Variable pay (paid 

2011) lti  programme other benefits pension cost loan outstanding

rolv erik ryssdal 3,048 1,300 996 217 2,486 -

trond berger 2,427 1,020 657 197 1,678 800

camilla Jarlsby 1,634 450 450 124 653 398

Sverre Munck 2,447 906 657 195 1,953 370

terje Seljeseth 2,120 950 579 229 2,243 400

Gunnar Strömblad 2,332 1,328 572 17 2,638 -

raoul Grünthal 2,784 776 608 29 771 -

didrik Munch 2,594 1,217 600 157 1,727 -

loans to group management have no installments, and the interest rate is  
1 per cent lower than the government set benchmark interest rate.
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have different pension schemes within the limit of benefits to the norwegian 
executive directors. the executive directors based in Sweden has a defined benefit 
pension insurance on level with the norwegian executive directors.

Details of salary, variable pay and other benefits provided to group 
 management in 2010 (in noK 1,000):

name:
salary incl. holiday 

pay
Variable pay (paid 

2010) lti  programme other benefits pension cost loan outstanding

rolv erik ryssdal 2,991 663 920 218 2,579 800

trond berger 2,397 553 609 486 1,824 800

camilla Jarlsby 1,578 121 399 134 369 400

Sverre Munck 2,577 553 609 197 1,715 370

terje Seljeseth 1,961 225 538 234 1,702 400

torry pedersen 2,029 338 509 168 1,079 800

Gunnar Strömblad 2,899 738 716 131 2,829 -

cathrine Foss Stene 3,112 461 - 145 812 -

loans to group management have no installments, and the interest rate is 
1 per cent lower than the government set benchmark interest rate.

cathrine Foss Stene resigned from her position as manager at 16 April 2010. 
her employment at Schibsted ended at 30 September 2010. termination 
payment period is 12 months from that date and was paid in 2010.

Variable pay
Schibsted’s ceo and other executive management participate in an annual 
variable pay programme that is linked to annual achievements of targets. 
the targets are twofold and related to financial and non-financial targets. 
the criteria are part of a total evaluation. For the ceo the variable pay is 
limited to a maximum of six months’ salary. For other executive management, 
the variable portion of salary varies from a maximum of four to six months’ 
salary. the ceo and other executive directors participate also in Schibsted’s 
three-year performance based share programme (lti), linked to the three-year 
performance criteria. 

termination payment schemes
the ceo have termination payment equal to eighteen months salary in 
addition to the six-month period of notice. the other Group management 
and managers are normally entitled to termination payments equal to 
6–18 months’ salary, depending on the level of their position. competition 
restrictions and curtailments will normally apply during the termination-pay 
period. the chairman of the board has no special remuneration scheme that 
applies if he resigns. 

pension schemes
the Group’s ceo is entitled and, if Schibsted so requires, obliged to retire 
at the age of 62. his full annual early retirement pension is 66% of his 
pensionable earnings. the retirement pension solution means that, when he 
reaches 67 years of age, the ceo will receive a retirement pension for life 
which equals 66% of his fixed salary. he is entitled to a disability pension of 
66% of his fixed salary. the spouse/cohabitant pension is 50% of his fixed 
salary and the child pension is 15% of his fixed salary.

the norwegian executive directors are entitled and, if Schibsted so requires, 
obliged to retire at the age of 62. during the period leading up to the ordinary 
retirement age (67 years), they will receive a pension that is 66% of their fixed 
salary. Full annual retirement/disability pension for the norwegian executive 
directors is 66% of their fixed salary. other members of the group management 
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Details of remuneration to the Board of Directors in 2011 (in noK 1,000):

Board 
 remuneration*

commitee 
 remuneration

Board remunera-
tion from other 

group companies
salary incl. 
 holiday pay other benefits pension cost

total 
 remuneration  

members of the Board and committees:

ole Jacob Sunde, chairman of the board 
and the compensation committee 700 70 - - 8 - 778 
Karl-christian Agerup, member of the 
board and the Audit committee 300 65 80 - - - 445 
Monica caneman, member of the board 
and chairman of the Audit committee 350 107 80 - - - 537 
Marie ehrling, member of the board and 
the compensation committee 342 41 - - - - 383 
christian ringnes, member of the board 
and the Audit committee 300 65 - - - - 365 

eva berneke, member of the board 334 - - - - - 334

Anne-lise Mørch von der Fehr, employee 
representative on the board and member 
of the compensation committee ** 300 41 - 813 70 93 1,317 

Gunnar Kagge, employee representative 
on the board ** 300 - - 640 9 258 1,207 

Frank Johan Johansen, deputy employee 
representative on the board ** - - 80 531 6 233 850 

Arve Jakobsen, deputy employee 
 representative on the board ** - - - 482 13 35 530 

hege lyngved odinsen, deputy employee 
representative on the board ** - - - 697 70 55 822 

Øystein Simensen, deputy employee 
representative on the board ** - - - 837 - 96 933 
John A. rein, chairman of the election 
committee - 96 - - - - 96
Gunn Wærsted, member of the election 
committee - 66 - - - - 66 
nils bastiansen, member of the election 
committee - 66 - - - - 66 

total 2,926 617 240 4,000 176 770 8,729 

* board remunerations include compensation for travelling hours to directors who do not live in oslo. 

** For employee representatives total remuneration includes salary and other benefits in their ordinary position.

auditor
Fees to the Group’s auditors for the fiscal year 2011 were as follows:

(noK 1,000 excl. Vat)
audit 

 services

other 
 attestation 

 services

tax 
 advisory 
 services

other 
 non-audit 
 services total

schibsted group

ernst & Young 9,166 425 952 5,182 15,725

other auditors 1,078 272 1,398 980 3,728

total 10,244 697 2,350 6,162 19,453

schibsted asa

ernst & Young 790  - 40  1,730 2,560
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options outstanding for managers included in the option programme is 
presented below:

opening 
 balance
1.1.2011

expired and 
forfeited 

during 2011
closing balance

31.12.2011
average 
maturity

rolv erik ryssdal  45,000  (7,500)  37,500 2.5

Gunnar Strömblad  45,000  (15,000)  30,000 2.1

trond berger  45,000  (15,000)  30,000 2.1

Sverre Munck  45,000  (15,000)  30,000 2.1

camilla Jarlsby  7,500  -  7,500 2.8

raoul Grünthal  22,500  (7,500)  15,000 2.1

others  192,500  (67,500)  125,000 

total  402,500  (127,500)  275,000 

long-term incentive programme (lti programme)
in 2010, Schibsted introduced an annual rolling three-year performance-
based share programme (lti programme) for key managers in the Group. 
the scheme includes a total of 43 participants in the 2010 programme and 
58 participants in the 2011 programme. the participants are from norway, 
Sweden, estonia and Spain.

the lti programme is divided into three participating levels. level 1 is for the 
ceo, level 2 for members of Group Management and level 3 for key personnel 
in the Group, and the managers / management teams in key subsidiaries. For 
each level, participants is given a defined «basic Amount» which is calculated 
as a percentage of salary.

1/3 of the basic amount (the «Share Amount») is awarded at start in form 
of shares in Schibsted which can not be sold during the three year period. if 
a participant at level 1 or 2 leaves during the three years, the Share Amount 
shall be refunded. A similar restriction does not apply to participants in level 3.

the rest, 2/3 of the basic amount («performance Amount»), is linked to three-
year performance criteria. performance criteria are performance measures that 
are compared to the three-year ebitA for the Group or participant’s operations. 
At the end of the three-year period, the participants receive Schibsted shares 
based on achievement of the criteria, and the number of shares is calculated 
using the average price over the three-year period. Actual payout after three 
years will depend on the degree of achievement of the criteria in the period.  
if the minimum performance hurdle is not reached over the three years period, 
only the Share Amount will be paid at the end of the three-year program.

upon payment of the Share Amount and performance Amount, Schibsted 
is responsible for tax deduction on behalf of the participant so that only the 
net amount after tax is paid in Schibsted shares. the programme is therefore 
treated partly as a share-based payment transactions settled in cash (tax) and 
partly as share-based payment transactions settled in equity (net payment 
in form of shares). the expense related to the portion that is recognised as a 
share-based payment transaction settled in equity are recognised in equity, 
while the expense related to the portion that is treated as a share-based 
payment transaction settled in cash are recognised as a liability.

the expense and the increase in equity or liability are recognised over the 
vesting period of 3 years for the parts of the total compensation that actually 

share-based payment (included in personnel expenses) consists of:

2011 2010

expense option programme 2 3

expense lti programme 23 15

total 25 18

of which recognised in equity  
(equity settled) 14 10

of which recognised as liability  
(cash settled) 11 8

option programme
Schibsted had until 2010 an option programme for group management and key 
personnel. the programme was terminated in 2010 by the introduction of a 
new share-based programme (lti programme), but the individual outstanding 
option schemes are still valid. the programme is accounted for as a share-based 
payment transaction settled in equity. expenses and increase in equity are 
recognised over the service period of 3 years.

the development in the number of options outstanding has been as follows:

2011 2010

outstanding 1.1  402,500  582,500 

exercised  -  (127,500)

expired and forfeited  (127,500)  (52,500)

outstanding 31.12  275,000  402,500 

of which fully vested  132,500  127,500 

outstanding options as at 31.12.2011 have the following terms:

expiry date exercise price (noK) number of options

24 June 2013  132.70 132,500

7 october 2014  51.00 142,500

the maximum gain per share that a manager can achieve when exercising  
the options is equal to 1.460375 multiplied with the exercise price per share.

the 2010 Annual General Meeting of Schibsted approved changes of the 
terms of the Group’s option scheme to adjust for the effect of the rights 
issue that was carried out in July 2009. Adjustment of the number of shares 
per option and exercise price was made in accordance with the oslo Stock 
exchange’s derivatives regulations, so that the value of the options is 
maintained after the share issue.

After the adjustment, each option entails the right to acquire 1.256 shares. 
exercise price is adjusted by a factor of 0.797065. the same is the case for  
the maximum share price. other terms of the option scheme are unchanged.

no options were exercised during 2011. total exercise price for options exercised 
in 2010 was noK 22.9 million. the fair value of the shares at the time of exercise 
was noK 25.6 million. 
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note 28 
otHer operAtInG eXpenSeS

other operating expenses consist of:

2011 2010

distribution 1,281 1,294 

commissions 942 957 
rent, maintenance, office expenses and 
energy 621 580 

pr, advertising and campaigns 1,051 845 

printing contracts 416 442 

editorial material 357 332 

professional fees 617 494 

travelling expenses 228 209 

other operating expenses 600 549 

total 6,113 5,702 

note 29 
FInAnCIAl IteMS

Financial income and financial expenses consist of:

2011 2010

interest income  32  29 

net foreign exchange gain  -  17 
Gain on sale of financial assets  
available for sale  16  109 

dividends received  32  22 

other financial income  2  3 

total financial income  82  180 

interest expenses  (156)  (134)

net foreign exchange loss  (11)  - 
impairment loss financial assets 
 available for sale  -  (6)

impairment loss loans and receivables  -  (2)

other financial expenses  (23)  (49)

total financial expenses  (190)  (191)

contains a service condition throughout the three-year period. this applies to 
the performance Amount and the part of Share Amount for level 1 and 2 that 
is recognised as a share-based payment transactions settled in equity. the 
remaining expense and increase in equity or liability is recognised immediately 
upon the start of the programme.

performance Amounts will vary based on the degree of achievement of certain 
performance targets. expenses to be recognised over the vesting period are 
estimated at the end of each reporting period based on the estimated fair value 
of the liability for transactions that are settled in cash and based on the number 
of equity instruments that is expected to vest for transactions settled in equity.

estimated total expense of the lti programme’s maturity (3 years):

2011 
 programme

2010 
 programme

Value Share Amount at grant date 11 8

Value performance Amount at grant date 22 18

Adjustment to performance Amount - 6

estimated total expense over the pro-
gramme's maturity 33 32

2011 
 programme

2010 
 programme total

recognised in personnel expense 
in 2010 - 15 15
recognised in personnel expense 
in 2011 15 8 23
to be recognised over the 
 remaining vesting period 18 9 27

in case a minimum performance target is reached, the estimated total expense 
for performance Amount can vary by 50 per cent compared to value at grant 
date. if the minmum performance target is not met, the performance Amount 
will be noK 0.

assumptions used for calculating the value of lti programme:

2011 2010

dividends  3.25  3.06 

closing price used for bonus shares 
granted 30.6  172.60  126.00 

Average price 1.1–31.12  148.98  144.01 

closing price 31.12  148.90  172.00 

risk-free interest rate 2.51% 3.52%

Model  Monte carlo  Monte carlo 

share programme
employees in the Group are given the opportunity each year to buy shares for 
noK 7,500 at a 20 per cent discount.
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the Group’s calculation of the effective tax rate is presented below: 

2011 2010

profit (loss) before taxes 1,331 3,399 
estimated tax charge based on nominal 
tax rate in norway 373 952
tax effect share of profit of associated 
companies (11) (10)

tax effect impairment loss goodwill 34 21
tax effect gain from remeasurement of 
previously held equity interest in business 
combination achieved in stages - (412)

tax effect other permanent differences 14 (98)
change in unrecognised deferred tax 
assets 95 8

effect of tax rate differential abroad 2 7
effect of adjustments recognised related 
to prior periods  (8)  - 

taxes recognised in profit or loss 499 468 

permanent differences include, in addition to non-deductible operating 
expenses, tax-free dividends and gains on sale of shares as well as non-
deductible impairment losses related to shares. Such gains are included in 
other revenues and expenses with regard to gains on the sale of subsidiaries, 
joint ventures and associated companies and in Financial income with regard 
to gains on the sale of shares categorised as Shares available for sale. 
impairment losses related to shares are included in Financial expenses.

the Group’s net deferred tax liabilities (assets) are made up as follows:

2011 2010

current items  (13)  (20)

pension liabilities  (385)  (397)

other non-current items  1,194  1,104 

unused tax losses  (442)  (408)

calculated net deferred tax liabilities 
(assets) 354 279

unrecognised deferred tax assets 386 376

net deferred tax liabilities (assets) 
recognised 740 655

of which deferred tax liabilities 798 757

of which deferred tax assets  (58)  (102)

the Group’s unused tax losses are mainly related to operations in norway, 
Sweden, France, Spain and italy as well as other countries in which Schibsted 
classified Media has established online classified operations. the majority of 
the tax losses can be carried forward for an unlimited period. Approximately 
20 per cent of the unused tax losses expire in the period up and until 2020. 

net foreign exchange gain (loss) consist of:

2011 2010

net foreign exchange gain (loss) on 
receivables and borrowings  (9)  5 
net fair value gain (loss) on forward 
contracts through profit or loss  (2)  12 

net foreign exchange gain (loss)  (11)  17 

in 2010 Gain on sale of financial assets available for sale mainly related to 
sale of shares in point carbon.

Schibsted hedges its currency exposure in SeK and eur by using loans and 
derivatives, see note 9 Financial risk management. As a result of this, foreign 
exchange gain (loss) effects in the income statement will normally be limited. net 
foreign exchange loss in 2011 and net foreign exchange gain in 2010 are primarily 
related to currency effects in the Group’s businesses outside the eurozone.

Financial income and expenses include the following amounts of interest 
income and interest expenses related to financial assets and liabilities that are 
not included in the category financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss:

2011 2010

interest income 31 27

interest expenses  (156)  (134)

note 30 
tAXeS

the Group’s income tax charge comprises the following:

2011 2010

current income taxes 420 349

deferred income taxes 81 118

taxes (including taxes recognised in 
comprehensive income) 501 467

of which recognised in profit or loss 499 468
of which recognised in comprehensive 
income 2 (1)

the Group’s effective tax rate differs from the nominal tax rate in countries 
where the Group has operations. 
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2011 2010

profit (loss) attributable to owners of  
the parent  742  2,794 
Average number of shares outstanding 
(diluted)  106,154,342  103,441,680 

diluted earnings per share (noK)  6.99  27.01 

earnings per share – adjusted is calculated as profit (loss) attributable to 
owners of the parent adjusted for items reported in the income statement  
as other revenues and expenses and impairment loss, adjusted for taxes and 
non-controlling interests. the number of shares included in the calculation is 
the same as the number for earnings per share and diluted earnings per share, 
as described above.

2011 2010

profit (loss) attributable to owners of the 
parent  742  2,794 

other revenues and expenses  50  (1,909)

impairment loss  191  110 
tax and non-controlling effect of other 
 revenues and expenses and impairment loss  (54)  10 

profit (loss) attributable to owners of 
the parent – adjusted  929  1,005 

Average number of shares outstanding  106,020,714  103,337,507 

earnings per share – adjusted (noK)  8.76  9.72 
Average number of shares outstanding 
(diluted)  106,154,342  103,441,680 

diluted earnings per share – adjusted (noK)  8.75  9.71 

the development in the recognised net deferred tax liabilities (assets) is 
as follows:

2011 2010

As at 1.1 655 318

change included in tax charge 81 118
change from purchase and sale of 
subsidiaries 8 241

translation differences  (4)  (22)

as at 31.12 740 655

deferred tax assets are recognised when it is likely that the benefit can be 
realised through expected future taxable profits. the Group’s deferred tax assets 
recognised are mainly related to operations in norway and Spain. the Group’s 
unrecognised deferred tax assets are mainly related to operations abroad where 
the utilisation must be against the operation’s own future taxable profits.

deferred tax liabilities and assets are offset for liabilities and assets in 
companies which are included in local tax groups. 

note 31 
eArnInGS per SHAre

average number of shares outstanding (diluted) is calculated as follows:

2011 2010

Average number of shares outstanding  106,020,714  103,337,507 
Adjustment for dilutive effect shares 
outstanding  133,628  104,173 

average number of shares  outstanding 
(diluted)  106,154,342  103,441,680 

the dilutive effect is calculated as the difference between the number of shares 
which can be acquired on exercise of outstanding options and the number of 
shares which could be acquired at fair value (calculated as the average price of 
the Schibsted share in the period) for the consideration which is to be paid for 
the shares which can be acquired based on outstanding options.

earnings per share is calculated as profit (loss) attributable to owners of the 
parent divided by the average number of shares outstanding. 
 

2011 2010

profit (loss) attributable to owners of  
the parent  742  2,794 

Average number of shares outstanding  106,020,714  103,337,507 

earnings per share (noK)  7.00  27.04 

diluted earnings per share is calculated as profit (loss) attributable to owners of 
the parent divided by the average number of shares outstanding, adjusted for the 
dilutive effect of all potential shares. 
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note 32 
JoInt VentureS

significant operations reported as joint ventures are specified below:
 

ownership 

company 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 location operating segments Business

romerike Mediadistribusjon AS 34% 34% Kjeller Media houses Scandinavia distribution

20 Minutes France S.A.S 50% 50% paris Media houses international Free newspapers

AS Ajakirjade Kirjastus 50% 50% tallinn Media houses international Magazines

AS Sl Õhtuleht 50% 50% tallinn Media houses international newspapers

express post AS 50% 50% tallinn Media houses international distribution

701 Search pte. ltd. 50% 50% Singapore online classifieds classifieds on the internet 

Willhaben internet Service Gmbh 50% 50% Vienna online classifieds classifieds on the internet 

these amounts are included in the Group’s income statement and balance  
sheet from joint ventures subject to using proportionate consolidation:      

2011 2010

operating revenues  429  675 

operating expenses  (463)  (559)

Gross operating profit (loss)  (34)  116 

profit (loss) before taxes  (46)  89 

non-current assets  49  52 

current assets  240  198 

total assets  289  250 

non-current liabilities  40  40 

current liabilities  150  146 

total liabilities  190  186 

net assets  99  64 

in 2010 Willhaben acquired 100 per cent of the shares in the Austrian car portal  
car4You Gmbh.

in november 2010 Schibsted implemented a total agreement with Spir  
communications where Schibsted acquired 50 per cent of the shares of ScM  
France SAS and sold 50 per cent of the shares of car & boat Media. After  
the implementation of the agreement ScM France SAS is a 100 per cent owned  
subsidiary in Schibsted.
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the liquidity effect of sales consists of:

2011 2010

cash in sold companies  12  36 

carrying amount other current assets  19  46 

carrying amount non-current assets  3  815 

aggregate carrying amount assets  34  897 

equity and liabilities transferred  (18)  (145)

Gain (loss)  5  478 

Gross sales price  21  1,230 

cash in sold companies  (12)  (36)
Sales price settled in other than cash  
and cash equivalents  (10)  - 

proceeds from sale of subsidiaries, 
net of cash sold  (1)  1,194 

note 34 
trAnSACtIonS WItH  
relAteD pArtIeS

For remuneration to management, see note 27 personnel expenses and share-
based payment.

For loans to associated companies and joint ventures, see note 15 other non-
current assets.

christian ringnes, member of the board, controls the company from which 
Schibsted’s subsidiary eesti Meedia hires offices in tallinn. in 2011, income 
from the office rental amounts to noK 7 million.

note 33 
SuppleMentAl InForMAtIon  
to tHe ConSolIDAteD 
 StAteMent oF CASH FloWS  

interest and dividends included in the consolidated statement of cash 
flows are as follows:   

2011 2010

in cash flow from operating activities:

interest paid  (132)  (144)

interest received  32  29 

dividends received  42  35 

in cash flow from financing activities:

dividends paid to owners of the parent  (324)  (155)
dividends paid to non-controlling 
interests  (61)  (201)

Schibsted’s consolidated statement of cash flows presents net payments and 
receipts on the acquisition and sale of subsidiaries and interests in joint ventures.

the liquidity effect of acquisitions consists of: 

2011 2010

cash in acquired companies  23  97 

Acquisition cost other current assets  14  38 

Acquisition cost non-current assets  189  3,533 

aggregate acquisition cost assets  226  3,668 

equity and liabilities assumed  (75)  (439)

Gross purchase price  151  3,229 
Gain from remeasurement of previously 
held equity interest in business combina-
tion achieved in stages  -  (1,518)

cash in acquired companies  (23)  (97)
purchase price settled in other than cash 
and cash equivalents  (20)  - 

acquisition of subsidiaries and joint 
ventures, net of cash acquired  108  1,614 
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note 35 
SuBSIDIArIeS

the following subsidiaries were directly and indirectly owned as at 31.12.:

location 2011 2010

media Houses scandinavia

Media norge AS (previously Media norge ASA) ** bergen 100.00% 82.31%

Aftenbladet distribusjon AS Sandnes 100.00% 82.31%

Aftenbladet eiendom AS Stavanger 100.00% 82.31%

Aftenbladet trykk AS Sandnes 100.00% 82.31%

Aftenposten AS oslo 100.00% 82.31%

Aftenposten distribusjon AS oslo 100.00% 82.31%

AS Farsund Aktiebogtrykkeri Farsund 86.20% 70.95%

Askøyværingen AS Askøy 100.00% 82.31%

Avisprodukter AS bergen 100.00% 82.31%

bergens ringen dA bergen 100.00% 82.31%

bergens tidende AS bergen 100.00% 82.31%

bergensopplevelser AS bergen 100.00% 82.31%

bt respons AS bergen 100.00% 82.31%

bt trykk AS Godvik 100.00% 82.31%

btV AS bergen 100.00% 82.31%

bygdanytt AS bergen 100.00% 82.31%

din Mat AS Stavanger 83.90% 69.06%

distribution innovation AS oslo 60.00% 49.39%

duplo Media AS oslo 70.00% -

Fanaposten AS bergen 100.00% 82.31%

Forlaget Strilen AS lindås 100.00% 82.31%

FV trykk AS Kristiansand 100.00% 82.31%

Fædrelandsvennen AS Kristiansand 100.00% 82.31%

Fædrelandsvennen distribusjon AS Kristiansand 100.00% 82.31%

Kristiansand Avis AS Kristiansand 49.00% 40.33%

let's deal AS oslo 48.94% -

lindesnes AS Mandal 100.00% 82.31%

lokalavisene AS bergen 100.00% 82.31%

Media AS Kristiansand 100.00% 82.31%

Media norge trykk AS oslo 100.00% 82.31%

Media norge trykk oslo AS oslo 100.00% 89.39%

Mediatrykk AS bergen 100.00% 82.31%

radio lindesnes AS lindesnes 41.67% 34.30%

radio Sør AS Kristiansand 100.00% 82.31%

Schibsted Vekst AS oslo 95.95% 90.65%

Schibsted tech polska sp z.o.o Krakow 100.00% -

Stavanger Aftenblad AS Stavanger 100.00% 82.31%

Strandgaten og eilertsbakken eiendomsselskap AS Farsund 86.20% -

Søgne og Songdalen budstikke AS Søgne 57.62% 47.43%

Sør distribusjon AS Mandal 95.45% 78.56%

Sørlandspakken Vest AS Kristiansand 100.00% 82.31%
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Sørlandssamkjøringen AS Mandal 62.00% 51.04%

tV Sør AS Kristiansand 100.00% 82.31%

Vestnytt AS Fjell 100.00% 82.31%

Woldcam AS Stavanger 100.00% 82.31%

Åsaneposten AS bergen 100.00% 82.31%

Scanpix Scandinavia Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

oÜ Scanpix baltics *** tartu - 100.00%

Schibsted eiendom AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

Stålfjæra 5 AnS oslo - 100.00%

Schibsted Forlag AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

Katapult bøker AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted Förlag Ab helsingborg 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted Magasiner AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted Sverige Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Aftonbladet hierta Ab Stockholm 91.00% 91.00%

Aftonbladet Kolportage Ab Stockholm 91.00% 91.00%

destinationpunktse Ab Stockholm 100.00% 90.52%

e24 näringsliv Ab (previously Svenska dagbladet executive club Ab) Stockholm 100.00% 99.41%

e24 näringsliv hb Stockholm - 100.00%

hard hat Ab Stockholm - 70.00%

hb Svenska dagbladets Ab & co Stockholm 99.41% 99.41%

Jobb 24 hb Stockholm 100.00% 94.31%

K lartpunktse Väderlekstjänst Ab Stockholm 100.00% -

Kundkraft i Sverige Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

lendo Ab Stockholm 97.00% 97.00%

Mediateam bemanning Ab Stockholm 51.00% 51.00%

Mini Media Sweden Ab Stockholm 51.00% 51.00%

Mintur Ab Stockholm 99.41% 99.41%

personal Finance Sverige Ab (previously destination redaktionell produktion Ab) Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

priceSpy Media ltd Manukau 70.00% 70.00%

prisjakt Sverige Ab Ängelholm 70.00% 70.00%

resdagboken Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

rörlig bild Sverige Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted centralen Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted Sök Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted tillväxtmedier Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%
Schibsted tillväxtmedier Annonsförsäljning Ab (previously Aftonbladet tillväxtmedier An-
nonsförsäljning Ab) Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

ServiceFinder Sverige Ab (previously Service response europe Ab) Stockholm 69.95% -

Skivklubben Alfa Ab Skara - 46.41%

Suredo Ab (previously lendo development Ab) Stockholm 97.00% 97.00%

Svenska dagbladet Annons Ab Stockholm 99.41% 99.41%

Svenska dagbladet digitala Medier Ab Stockholm 99.41% 99.41%

Svenska dagbladet distribution Ab Stockholm 99.41% 99.41%

Svenska dagbladet holding Ab Stockholm 99.41% 99.41%

Svenska dagbladets Ab Stockholm 99.41% 99.41%

tasteline Sweden Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

tVnu Sweden Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Webtraffic norge AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%
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Webtraffic Sverige Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Si Företagstjänster holding Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Si Företagstjänster Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

tesked Ab Varberg 97.98% 92.42%

Mötesplatsen i norden Ab Varberg 97.98% 92.42%

Verdens Gang AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

Absolutt Fotball AS oslo - 80.87%

Avisretur AS oslo 50.10% 50.10%

dine penger AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

e24 næringsliv AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

Mittanbud.no AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

VG Mobil AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

VG Multimedia AS * oslo - 100.00%

Ada digital Annonsering AS (previously Adwise network AS) *** oslo - 100.00%

e24 international Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

european Media Ventures AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

Gratisavisen avis1 AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

Media norge Salg AS oslo - 65.85%

Schibsted Multimedia AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted print Media AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted it AS oslo 100.00% -

Schibsted payment AS oslo 100.00% -

trafikkfondet AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

location 2011 2010

media Houses international

20 Min holding AG Zurich 100.00% 100.00%

20 Min international b.V. rotterdam 100.00% 100.00%

20 Minutes online Sl Madrid 99.87% 99.87%

20 Minutos españa S.A. Madrid 100.00% 100.00%

carrie & Serena S.l. Madrid 63.92% -

diario 20 Minutos Sl Madrid 99.87% 99.87%

linea 20 revistas Sl Madrid 99.87% 99.87%

Multiciudad Sl* Madrid - 100.00%

Multiprensa Y M@s S.l. Madrid 99.87% 99.87%

20 Min holding AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

regional independent newspapers north-West Moscow - 79.41%

AS eesti Meedia tartu 100.00% 100.00%

AS Kanal 2 tallinn 100.00% 100.00%

AS Kroonpress tartu 99.90% 99.90%

AS postimees tallinn 100.00% 100.00%

AS Schibsted baltics tallinn 100.00% 100.00%

Järva teataja oÜ * paide - 66.00%

oÜ den za dnjom Kirjastus * tallinn - 100.00%

oÜ Webplanet (previously oÜ Majandusuudised) tallinn 100.00% 100.00%

oÜ Meediasüsteemid tartu 100.00% 100.00%

postimees online oÜ * tallinn - 100.00%

pärnu postimees oÜ * pärnu - 66.00%

Sakala Kirjastus oÜ * Viljandi - 66.00%
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SiA tvnet riga 100.00% -

Soov Kirjastus ou    tallinn 100.00% 100.00%

uAb 15 Minuciu Vilnius 99.90% 99.90%

uAb 15 Minuciu online Vilnius 99.90% 99.90%

uAb ekstra Zinios Vilnius - 98.88%

uAb plius Vilnius 100.00% 100.00%

uAb Zurnalu leidybos Grupe Vilnius 100.00% 100.00%

Valgamaalase Kirjastus oÜ * Valga - 66.00%

Virumaa teataja oÜ * rakvere - 66.00%

Ühinenud Ajalehed AS tartu 66.00% 66.00%

e24 France SAS paris 100.00% 85.00%

Schibsted AG berlin 100.00% 100.00%

location 2011 2010

online classifieds

Finn.no AS oslo 89.88% 81.04%

eiendomsprofil AS bergen 40.58% 36.11%

Finn bil.no AS oslo 89.88% 81.04%

Finn eiendom.no AS oslo 79.56% 70.81%

Finn Foto AS oslo 79.56% 70.81%

Finn Jobb.no AS oslo 89.88% 81.04%

Finn oppdrag AS oslo 89.88% 81.04%

Finn reise AS oslo 89.88% 81.04%

Finn torget AS oslo 89.88% 81.04%

Flytteportalen AS oslo 39.86% 35.48%

penger.no AS oslo 92.92% -

Schibsted classified Media AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

Anuntis chile, S.A. Santiago de chile 76.22% 76.22%

Anuntis perú, S.A.c lima 76.22% 76.22%

Anuntis Segundamano Argentina holdings SA buenos Aires 76.23% 76.23%

Anuntis Segundamano Argentina S.A buenos Aires 76.23% 76.23%

Anuntis Segundamano españa Sl barcelona 76.23% 76.23%

Anuntis Venezuela S.A. caracas - 72.65%

ASM clasificados de México SA de cV Mexico city 76.22% 76.22%

blocket Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

bom negócio Atividades de internet ltda rio de Janeiro 100.00% -

byt bil nordic Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

custoJusto unipessoal, lda lisbon 100.00% 100.00%

donedeal ltd Wexford 50.09% -

editora balcão ltda rio de Janeiro 99.99% 99.89%

editora urbana, ltda. bogotá 68.61% 68.61%

editora Anuntis Segundamano online do brazil ltda Sao paulo 76.22% 76.22%

hebdo Mag brazil holdings bV Amsterdam 100.00% 100.00%

hebdo Mag brazil holdings ltda rio de Janeiro 99.99% 99.99%

infoJobs italia S.r.l Milan 72.89% 72.89%

infoJobs S.A. barcelona 98.50% 98.50%

inmobolsa Factory Sl* barcelona - 76.23%

it competence center S.l barcelona 76.23% 76.23%

Kapaza bV Amsterdam 100.00% 100.00%
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Kapaza! belgium nV brussels 100.00% 100.00%

Kapaza! holding bV Amsterdam 100.00% 100.00%

lbc France, SAS paris 100.00% -

Schibsted chile, SpA Santiago de chile 100.00% -

Schibsted classified Media hellas Mepe Athens 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted classified Media hungary Kft budapest 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted classified Media ireland ltd dublin 100.00% -

Schibsted classified Media nV Amsterdam 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted classified Media Switzerland AG (previously Schibsted classified Media Schweiz AG) Zurich 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted españa S.l. barcelona 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted ibérica S.l Madrid 100.00% 100.00%

ScM France, SAS paris 100.00% 100.00%

ScM local, SArl paris 100.00% -

ScM northern europe Ab Stockholm 100.00% -

ScM Suomi oy helsinki 100.00% 100.00%

ScM Ventures Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

ScM Ventures bV Amsterdam 100.00% 100.00%

SFi holding AS oslo 96.96% 94.31%

Sibmedia interactive S.r.l. Sibiu 55.00% -

Subito.it S.r.l Milan 100.00% 100.00%

hittapunktse Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

location 2011 2010

other

Sandrew Metronome Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Ab Sandrew-Ateljéerna Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

produktion S. bauman Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Sandrew Film 86 Kb Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Sandrew Film 87 Kb Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Sandrew Film 97 Kb Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Sandrew Metronome danmark A/S copenhagen 100.00% 100.00%

Sandrew Metronome distribution Finland oY helsinki - 100.00%

Sandrew Metronome distribusjon norge AS oslo 100.00% -

Sandrew Metronome distribution Sverige Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Sandrew Metronome international Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Sandrew Metronome norge AS oslo - 100.00%

Sandrew Metronome Video Finland oY helsinki 100.00% -

Selskabet af 2/9 1999 ApS copenhagen 100.00% 100.00%

premiärpaketet lance Ab Stockholm - 100.00%

Schibsted Movie AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

location 2011 2010

Headquarters

Schibsted Finans AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

* Merged with other companies in the Schibsted group.

** in May 2011 Media norge ASA merged with the fully owned Schibsted company Media norge AS.

*** As at 31.12.2011 associated company.
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SCHIBSteD ASA  
InCoMe StAteMent For  
tHe YeAr enDeD 31 DeCeMBer   
(noK million) note 2011 2010

operating revenues 2 47 46

personnel expenses 3  (128)  (121)

depreciation and amortisation 4  (1)  (3)

other operating expenses 5  (131)  (110)

operating profit (loss)  (213)  (188)

Financial income 6  1,631  1,486 

Financial expenses 6  (84)  (48)

net financial items  1,547  1,438 

profit (loss) before taxes  1,334  1,250 

taxes 7  (220)  (156)

profit (loss) 1,114 1,094 
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SCHIBSteD ASA  
BAlAnCe SHeet  
AS At 31 DeCeMBer
(noK million) note 2011 2010

assets

deferred tax assets 7 47 40 

tangible assets and licences 4 6 7 

intangible assets and tangible assets 53 47 

investments in subsidiaries 8 4,817 4,769 

investments in associated companies 8 1,414 1,414 

investments in other shares 8 144 144 

non-current receivables 9 720 719 

Financial assets 7,095 7,046 

non-current assets 7,148 7,093 

receivables 10 2,306 909 

cash and cash equivalents 11 13 20 

current assets 2,319 929 

total assets 9,467 8,022 

eQuitY anD liaBilities

Share capital 108 108 

treasury shares  (1)  (4)

Share premium reserve 1,289 1,289 

other paid-in capital 125 121 

paid-in capital 1,521 1,514 

other equity 5,354 4,094 

retained earnings 5,354 4,094 

equity 13 6,875 5,608 

pension liabilities 14 155 129 

provisions 155 129 

non-current liabilities 9 705 704 

current liabilities 15 1,732 1,581 

total equity and liabilities 9,467 8,022 

oslo, 29 March 2012
Schibsted ASA’s board of directors

ole Jacob Sunde
chairman of the board

eva berneke Anne lise von der Fehr Gunnar Kagge

christian ringnes

Monica caneman

Karl-christian Agerup Marie ehrling

rolv erik ryssdal 
ceo
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SCHIBSteD ASA  
StAteMent oF CASH FloWS  
For tHe YeAr enDeD 31 DeCeMBer
(noK million) 2011 2010

casH FloW From operatinG actiVities

profit (loss) before taxes 1,334 1,250 

depreciation and amortisation 1 3 

reversed previous impairment losses  -  (76)

impairment losses of shares 17 3 

Gain on sale of non-current assets  -  (25)

Share-based payment 4 4 

Group contributions included in financial income  (1,482)  (763)

change in current receivables 111  (22)

change in current liabilities  (2) 18 

difference between pension cost and cash flow related to pension plans 26 10 

other accruals  - 1 

net cash flow from operating activities 9 403 

casH FloW From inVestinG actiVities

purchase of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment  -  (1)

Sale of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment  - 1 

change in non-current receivables  -  (703)

Acquisition of subsidiaries  (587)  (133)

payment of merger receivables  989  - 

Sale of shares  - 302 

net cash flow from investing activities 402  (534)

casH FloW From FinancinG actiVities

change in non-current interest-bearing borrowings  - 703 

change in current interest-bearing borrowings  (135)  (956)

Group contributions received (net) 201 314 

dividends paid  (324)  (155)

purchase / sale of treasury shares  (160) 72 

net cash flow from financing activities  (418)  (22)

net cash flow for the year  (7)  (153)

cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 20 173 

cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 13 20 
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tABle oF ContentS  
noteS to tHe SCHIBSteD ASA  
FInAnCIAl StAteMentS 2011      
All amounts are in noK million unless otherwise stated

note 1: accountinG policies
note 2: operatinG reVenues
note 3: personnel expenses anD man-Years
note 4: propertY, plant anD eQuipment anD licences
note 5: otHer operatinG expenses
note 6: Financial items
note 7: taxes
note 8: inVestments in sHares
note 9: non-current receiVaBles anD non-current 

 liaBilities
note 10: receiVaBles
note 11: casH anD casH eQuiValents
note 12: sHareHolDer structure
note 13: eQuitY
note 14: pension plans
note 15: current liaBilities
note 16: Guarantees anD proVisions oF securitY
note 17: eVents aFter tHe reportinG perioD
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note 1 
ACCountInG polICIeS

the financial statements of Schibsted ASA have been prepared in accordance 
with the provisions of the norwegian Accounting Act and Generally Accepted 
Accounting principles in norway.

revenue recognition 
operating revenues are recognised when the goods are delivered or the service 
rendered. 

classification 
Assets and liabilities related to the normal operating cycle are classified as 
current assets and current liabilities. receivables and liabilities not related 
to the normal operating cycle are classified as current if they are of a short-
term nature, normally due within one year. Shares and other investments not 
intended for continued use or ownership are classified as current assets. other 
assets and liabilities are classified as non-current.

shares
Shares are measured at cost and impairment loss is recognised if the carrying 
amount exceeds the recoverable amount. the impairment is reversed if the 
basis for the write-down is no longer present.

Group contributions received are included in financial income provided that 
the Group contribution received does not represent a repayment of capital 
invested. Group contributions that represent a repayment of capital invested 
are accounted for as a reduction in the cost of investments in subsidiaries. net 
Group contributions payable (gross Group contributions less the associated tax 
effect) are included in the cost of investments in subsidiaries. dividends from 
subsidiaries and associated companies are included in financial income. 

property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation, amortisation and impairment. property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets with limited economic lives are depreciated 
over the expected economic life. An impairment loss is recognised if the 
carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. the recoverable amount 
is the higher of net sales value and the present value of future cash flows 
expected to be generated. impairment losses are reversed if the basis for  
the impairment is no longer present. 

leasing 
leasing agreements are classified as finance leases or operating leases based 
on the actual content of the agreement. Agreements transferring substantially 
all the financial rights and obligations related to the leased object to Schibsted 
are classified as financial. non-current tangible assets held under finance 
lease agreements are recognised in the balance sheet and depreciated over 
the estimated economic life of the asset. the present value of lease payments 
is included in non-current interest-bearing borrowings. the borrowings are 
reduced by the amount of lease payments less the effective interest rate. 
other lease agreements are classified as operating leases and the annual 
leasing fee is charged as a leasing expense. 

Foreign currency 
Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the closing rate at the date of 
the balance sheet. Foreign currency gains and losses are reported in the income 
statement in the lines Financial income and Financial expenses respectively.

trade receivables 
trade receivables are measured at fair value including allowance for bad debt.

treasury shares 
the cost of acquisition and proceeds from sale of treasury shares are offset 
against equity. 

pension cost
pension liabilities related to defined benefit plans are measured at the net 
present value of future pension benefits earned at the balance sheet date 
and calculated on the basis of assumption for, among others, the discount 
rate, expected future wage growth and pension adjustments. plan assets 
are measured at fair value. net pension liabilities related to under-funded 
plans are recognised as provisions, while the net assets of over-funded plans 
are recognised as non-current financial assets. net pension expense, which 
is gross pension expense less the estimated return on plan assets adjusted 
for past service cost and the effects of changes in estimates, are included 
in personnel expenses. changes in pension liabilities due to amendments in 
pension plans are included in net pension expenses over the vesting period or 
immediately if the benefits are immediately vested.

changes in pension liabilities and plan assets, due to changes in and deviations 
from the calculation assumptions, are included in net pension expense over 
the average remaining working lives of the participants for the part of the 
accumulated effect that exceeds 10% of the greater of plan assets or pension 
liabilities. in the case of pensions plans, defined for accounting purposes as 
defined contribution plans, the premiums are recognised as pension expenses 
for the period.

Schibsted ASA use, in accordance with the accepted solution under generally 
accepted accounting principles in norway, the iFrS standard iAS 19 on 
accounting for pension liabilities.

share-based payment 
in equity settled share-based payment transactions with employees, the fair 
value of the employee services and the corresponding equity increase are 
measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted. 
the fair value of equity instruments granted is measured at grant date, and 
recognised as personnel expenses and equity increase immediately or over  
the vesting period when performance vesting conditions require an employee 
to serve over a specified time period. 

the estimated number of equity instruments expected to vest are beeing 
remeasured at each reporting date. the amount recognised as an expense is 
adjusted to reflect the number of equity instruments which are expected to be, 
or actually become vested. 

in cash settled share-based payment transactions with employees, the 
employee services and the incurred liability are measured at the fair value 
of the liability. the employee services and the liability are recognised 
immediately or over the vesting period when performance vesting conditions 
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note 3 
perSonnel eXpenSeS  
AnD MAn-YeArS

personnel expenses consist of:

2011 2010

Salaries and wages 80 78

Social security costs 13 15

net pension expense (note 14) 23 18

other personnel expenses 3 4

Share-based payment 9 6

total 128 121

the company has 91 full-time equivalents, including trainees, in 2011. 
note 27 personnel expenses and share-based payment to the consolidated 
financial statements contains further information concerning auditor’s fee and 
remuneration to management, including share-based payment.

note 4 
propertY, plAnt AnD 
 eQuIpMent AnD lICenCeS

equipment, 
 furniture, vehicles  licences

cost as at 1.1.2011  30  4 

Additions  -  - 

disposals  -  - 

cost as at 31.12.2011  30  4 

Accumulated depreciation and 
 amortisation 1.1.2011  (23)  (4)

depreciation and amortisation for the year  (1)  - 

accumulated depreciation and 
 amortisation 31.12.2011  (24)  (4)

carrying amount 31.12.2011  6  - 

depreciation method Straight line Straight line

depreciation period 3–10 years 3–5 years

the depreciation and amortisation for the year include depreciation of leasehold 
improvements of noK 0.2 million. operating lease payments of noK 29 million 
are expensed in 2011 and are mainly leased office premises with a remaining 
lease term of three years with an option to extend for another five years.

require an employee to serve over a specified time period. until the liability is 
settled, the fair value of the liability is revised at each balance sheet date and 
at settlement date, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 

restructuring costs
restructuring costs are recognised in accordance with the matching principle 
and therefore expenses not related to revenues in future periods are 
charged to expense when incurred. restructuring costs are incurred when a 
restructuring plan is approved and announced.

taxes
the tax charge is calculated from the profit (loss) before tax and comprises tax 
payable and the change in deferred taxes. deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are calculated in accordance with the liability method without discounting and 
provided for all differences between the carrying amount in the balance sheet 
and the tax base of assets and liabilities, and for unused tax losses. deferred tax 
assets are recognised only when it is expected that the benefit can be utilised 
through sufficient taxable profits from expected future earnings. 

contingent liabilities 
contingent liabilities are recognised when it is more probable than not that the 
liability will become effective. the best estimate of the amount to be paid is 
included in other provisions in the balance sheet. other obligations, for which 
no liability is recognised, are disclosed in notes to the financial statements. 

Dividend
the dividend for the financial year, as proposed by the board of directors, is 
recognised as a liability at 31.12.

statement of cash flows
the statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method. cash and 
cash equivalents include cash, bank deposits and other monetary instruments 
with a maturity of less than three months at the date of purchase. 

note 2 
operAtInG reVenueS

operating revenues consist of:

2011 2010

operating revenues 47 46

total 47 46

operating revenues consist of consultant fees and income from lease of 
office premises, as well as fees for subsidiaries’ participation in programs for 
management and organisational development.
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note 7 
tAXeS

set out below is a specification of the difference between the profit 
before taxes and taxable income of the year:

2011 2010

profit (loss) before taxes 1,334 1,250 
dividends and tax free group contribu-
tions received  (595)  (628)

other permanent differences 63  (65)

change in temporary differences 25 6

taxable income 827 563 

tax rate 28% 28%

taxes payable and taxes charged to expenses is calculated as:

2011 2010

calculated current taxes 232 158 
current tax payable related to Group 
contributions payable  (225)  (158)

taxes payable 7  - 

taxes payable 7  - 

change in net deferred tax asset  (7)  (2)

tax recognised in equity  (5)  - 
tax related to Group contributions 
payable 225 158 

taxes 220 156 

the net deferred tax asset consists of the following:

2011 2010

temporary differences related to:

property, plant and equipment  (2)  (2)

pension liabilities  (155)  (129)

other current liabilities  (10)  (11)

total basis for deferred tax asset  (167)  (142)

tax rate 28% 28%

net deferred tax liability (asset)  (47)  (40)

effective tax rate is a result of:

2011 2010

profit (loss) before taxes 1,334 1,250 

tax charged based on nominal rate 374 350

tax effect permanent differences  (149)  (194)

taxes recognised in equity  (5)  - 

taxes 220 156 

note 5 
otHer operAtInG eXpenSeS

other operating expenses consist of:

2011 2010

rent, maintenance, etc (note 4) 31 28

office and administrative expenses 20 16

professional fees 46 38

travel, meetings and marketing 34 28

total 131 110

note 6 
FInAnCIAl IteMS

Financial income consists of:

2011 2010

interest income 37 7

Group contributions received 1,482 763

dividends from subsidiaries  - 549

dividends from associated companies 88 17

dividends from other companies 24 48

reversed previous impairment losses  - 76

Gain on sale of shares  - 25

other financial income  - 1

total 1,631 1,486 

reversed previous impairment losses of shares in 2010 relates to Schibsted 
Movie AS. Gain on sale of shares in 2010 relates in its entirety to the sale of SFi 
holding AS to Schibsted classified Media AS. dividends from subsidiaries are 
from Media norge in 2010.

Financial expenses consist of:

2011 2010

interest expenses 47 14
interest expenses cash pool system 
(note 11) 18 29

impairment losses of shares 17 3

other financial expenses 2 2

total 84 48

impairment losses of shares in 2011 relate to 20 Min holding AS and 
trafikkfondet AS. the impairment losses of shares in 2010 relate to 20 Min 
holding AS. interest expenses of noK 33 million in 2011 relate to bond issues. 
other financial expenses relate to foreign exchange losses in 2011 and 2010.
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Market prices are available for shares in polaris Media ASA. the fair value of the 
shares in polaris Media ASA is noK 396 million based on the last market price.

Schibsted ASA has increased its ownership in Media norge AS from 81.94% to 
100%. the increased ownership is a result of a purchase of shares in January 
and in May, the merger of Media norge ASA and nye Media norge AS, where 
Schibsted ASA has 100% ownership. the settlement to the non-controlling 
interests of Media norge ASA was two thirds Schibsted shares and one third cash. 
the total cash consideration to the non-controlling interests was noK 561 million. 
For further information see Group note 4 changes in the composition of the group.

note 8 
InVeStMentS In SHAreS

 ownership % 
31.12.2011  location 

carrying 
amount

shares in subsidiaries

20 Min holding AS 100.00  oslo  - 

Media norge AS 100.00  bergen 1,349

Schibsted eiendom AS 100.00  oslo 142

Schibsted Finans AS 100.00  oslo 392

Schibsted Forlag AS 100.00  oslo 46

Schibsted Movie AS 100.00  oslo 214

Schibsted Multimedia AS 100.00  oslo 2,033

Schibsted print Media AS 100.00  oslo 546

Schibsted Sverige Ab 100.00  Stockholm 67

trafikkfondet AS 100.00  oslo 1

Verdens Gang AS 100.00  oslo 25

Schibsted it AS 100.00  oslo 2

Schibsted payment AS 100.00  oslo -

total 4,817

Group contributions payable to subsidiaries, noK 578 million (net) is 
capitalised as part of investments in subsidiaries.

Group contributions from Media norge AS of noK 800 million is considered to 
represent repayment of capital invested and thus recognised as a reduction in 
the carrying amount of the shares in Media norge AS.  

shares in associated companies
 ownership % 

31.12.2011  location 
carrying 
amount  equity profit (loss)

Finn.no AS 39.87 oslo 1,413 456 364

Svanedamsveien 10 AS 25.00 Kristiansand 1 65 3

total 1,414

other shares

polaris Media ASA 7.10  trondheim 31

polaris Media ASA – agreement with 
continuing financial involvement  trondheim 110

Scanpix Scandinavia Ab 13.32  Stockholm 2

Schibsted Vekst AS 10.00  oslo 1

Schibsted tech polska sp. z.o.o 1.00  Krakow -

total 144

29 September 2011, Schibsted ASA entered into an agreement regarding the sale 
of shares in polaris Media ASA. Schibsted has agreed with the buyers of the polaris 
Media shares that they have a right, but not an obligation, to resell the shares to 
Schibsted at the price between noK 26 and 27, adjusted for dividends. the shares 
may be sold to Schibsted within a period of one month from 29 September 2012.

According to the agreement Schibsted ASA has financial assets and financial 
liabilities representing the rights and obligations Schibsted has towards the 
counterpart. Assets of noK 110 million are included in Financial assets and 
obligations of noK 298 million are included in current liabilities. See note 15 
current liabilities.



SchibSted AnnuAl report 2011
notes / asa

158

note 11 
CASH AnD CASH  
eQuIVAlentS

total cash and cash equivalents of noK 13 million include noK 0.5 million 
pledged as security for trading on nASdAQ oMX oslo ASA.

Schibsted ASA’s bank account is included in the Schibsted Group’s cash pool with 
danske bank. the cash pool system has been established to contribute to an 
optimal liquidity management for the Schibsted Group. As at 31.12.2011 Schibsted 
ASA had drawn noK 181 million on sub-accounts in the cash pool system, which 
is managed and controlled by Schibsted Finans AS. the overdraft is included as 
current liabilities in the balance sheet. note 9 Financial risk management and note 
18 cash and cash equivalents to the consolidated financial statements contain 
further information concerning financial market risk.

note 9 
non-Current reCeIVABleS  
AnD non-Current lIABIlItIeS

non-current receivables consist of:

2011 2010

receivables from Group companies 700 700

other receivables 20 19

total 720 719

receivables from Group companies are in their entirety loans to Schibsted 
Finans AS. the loan amounts and terms are identical to what Schibsted ASA 
has on the bond loans with norsk tillitsmann ASA.

non-current liabilities consist of:

2011 2010

liabilities Group companies 1 3

bond issues 700 700

other liabilities 4 1

total 705 704

Schibsted ASA issued two unsecured bonds in the norwegian bond market at a 
total of noK 700 million in december 2010. the first loan, iSin no001059325.4 
of noK 300 million will reach maturity in december 2013 and carries an interest 
of 3 months nibor plus 150 basis points. the second loan, iSin no001059326.2 
of noK 400 million will reach maturity in december 2015 and carries an interest 
of 3 months nibor plus 205 basis points.

note 10 
reCeIVABleS

receivables consist of:

2011 2010

current receivables from Group companies 2,291 787

other receivables 15 122

total 2,306 909

other receivables in 2010 include a receivable of noK 90 million from Seb 
enskilda related to a trS-agreement in force at that time related to shares in 
polaris Media ASA.
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number of shares owned by the Board of Directors and the Group 
 management:  

 number of shares 

Karl christian Agerup  11,082 

eva Merete Søfelde berneke  2,125 

Monica caneman  - 

Anne-lise Mørch von der Fehr  201 

Marie elisabeth ehrling  - 

Frank Johan Johansen  312 

Arve Jakobsen  - 

Gunnar Gjerdrum Kagge  226 

hege lyngved odinsen  469 

christian ringnes  135,200 

Øystein robert Marensius Simensen  - 

ole Jacob Sunde  121,244 

rolv erik ryssdal  14,263 

trond berger  20,936 

Sverre Munck  18,539 

Gunnar Strömblad  12,407 

camilla Jarlsby  3,285 

terje Seljeseth  6,891 

didrik Munch  1,793 

total Board of Directors and Group management  348,973 

the total number of issued shares in Schibsted ASA was 108,003,615 and the 
number of shareholders was 5,342, as at 31.12.2011. Foreign ownership was 43 
per cent Schibsted ASA owned 1,061,958 treasury shares at 31.12.2011. the 
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting has given the board of directors authorisation to 
acquire treasury shares up to 10,800,361 shares (10%). the authorisation was 
renewed at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting 13 May 2011 for a period until the 
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting in 2012. At the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on 
11 May 2012 the board will present a resolution to extend the authorisation to 
the board of directors for the purchase and disposal of up to 10 per cent of the 
share capital in Schibsted ASA in accordance with the norwegian public limited 
liability companies Act based on the conditions presented in the notification to 
the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting.  

note 12 
SHAreHolDer StruCture

the 20 largest shareholders as at 31 December 2011: 

 number of shares  share in % 

blommenholm industrier  28,188,589 26.1%

Folketrygdfondet  9,124,470 8.4%

JpMorgan chase bank, nordea  7,778,536 7.2%

nWt Media AS  4,545,815 4.2%

bank of new York Mellon  3,951,315 3.7%

State Street bank And trust co.  1,768,830 1.6%

Skandinaviska enskilda banken  1,511,290 1.4%

JpMorgan chase bank  1,479,457 1.4%

clearstream banking  1,339,555 1.2%

Shb Stockholm clients Account  1,313,601 1.2%

citibank nA london  1,224,912 1.1%

Shb institutional Sales  1,216,000 1.1%

Schibsted ASA  1,061,958 1.0%

State Street bank And trust  1,056,917 1.0%

bnp paribas Secs Services  1,053,749 1.0%

odin norge  877,571 0.8%

orkla ASA  865,895 0.8%

Montague place custody Services  863,835 0.8%

Verdipapirfondet handelsbanken  720,000 0.7%

Fidelity nordic Fund  658,023 0.6%

total 20 largest shareholders  70,600,318 65.3%

For further information regarding the ownership, see the chapter Shareholder 
information in Schibsted’s annual report.
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note 13 
eQuItY

the development in the company’s equity in 2011 is as follows:

 share capital treasury shares
share premium 

reserve
other 

 paid-in capital other equity total

equity as at 31.12.2010 108  (4) 1,289 121 4,094 5,608
change in treasury shares  - 3  -  - 524 527
Share-based payment  -  -  - 4  - 4

profit (loss)  -  -  -  - 1,114 1,114
dividend  -  -  -  -  (374)  (374)
other  -  -  -  -  (4)  (4)

equity as at 31.12.2011 108  (1) 1,289 125 5,354 6,875

Schibsted ASA’s share capital consists of 108,003,615 shares of noK 1 par value. 
the par value of treasury shares is presented on a separate line within paid-in 
capital with a negative amount. 

no shareholder may own or vote at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting for more 
than 30% of the shares. 

note 14 
penSIon plAnS

the company is obliged to have an occupational pension scheme in accordance 
with the Act on Mandatory company pensions («lov om obligatorisk tjenest-
epensjon»). the company’s pension scheme meets the requirements of the Act.

As at 31.12.2011 the company’s pension plan had 103 members. note 21 pension 
plans to the consolidated financial statements contains further description of the 
pension plans and the principal assumptions applied.

amounts recognised in profit or loss:

2011 2010

current service cost 13 15

interest cost 9 9

expected return on plan assets  (3)  (3)

Actuarial gains or losses recognised 1 3

past service cost  -  (12)

net benefit expense – defined benefit 
plans 20 12
benefit expense – defined contribution 
plans 3 6

net benefit expense 23 18
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note 16 
GuArAnteeS AnD  
proVISIonS oF SeCurItY

2011 2010

Guarantees for loans and drawing 
 facilities on behalf of Group companies 5,368 5,131 
other guarantees on behalf of Group 
companies 261 324 

other guarantees 107 91 

total 5,736 5,546 

noK 2 billion of the total of noK 5.4 billion of guarantees for loans and 
drawing facilities were drawn at the end of 2011. At the end of 2010 a total of 
noK 1.8 billion was drawn.

A guarantee of noK 216 million to danske bank is included in other 
guarantees on behalf of Group companies. the guarantee relates to 
guarantees for tax withholdings and other guarantees, guarantees regarding 
subsidiaries’ unsecured pension liabilities of noK 37 million related to key 
management personnel, as well as a guarantee of noK 8 million to Grensen 
5–7 AS regarding office lease. A parent company Guarantee (pcG) to entra 
eiendom AS was provided by unsecured Schibsted ASA. the guarantee covers 
security for payment of office lease.

other guarantees include a guarantee of noK 97 million to barclays regarding 
primerama S.l’s loan. Guarantees of loans to employees in the Group of noK 5 
million and unfunded pension liabilities of noK 4 million are also included. note 
27 personnel expenses and share-based payment in the consolidated financial 
statements contains further information regarding loans to members of the 
Group management.

note 17 
eVentS AFter tHe  
reportInG perIoD

the board of directors has decided to sell Schibsted Forlag AS and Verdens 
Gang AS to Media norge AS.

amounts recognised in the balance sheet:

2011 2010

present value of funded defined benefit 
obligations 78 62

Fair value of plan assets  (60)  (51)

present value (net of plan assets) of 
funded defined benefit obligations 18 11
present value of unfunded defined bene-
fit obligations 199 141

unrecognised actuarial gains or losses  (62)  (23)

net defined benefit obligation 155 129

Social security tax included in present 
value of defined benefit obligations 27 19

changes in net defined benefit obligation:

2011 2010

As at 1 January 129 119

net benefit expense 20 12

contributions / benefits paid 6  (2)

as at 31 December 155 129

note 15 
Current lIABIlItIeS

current liabilities consist of:

2011 2010

trade creditors 9 7

public duties payable 11 8

dividends accrued 374 324
current liabilities Group company  
(cash pool system) (note 11) 181 316

current liabilities to Group companies 818 587
Financial liabilities related to trS- 
agreements and agreements with 
 continuing financial involvement (note 8) 298 308

taxes payable 7 -

other current liabilities 34 31

total 1,732 1,581 
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DeClArAtIon BY tHe BoArD  
oF DIreCtorS AnD preSIDent 
AnD Ceo

We confirm that, to the best of our knowledge, the financial statements for the 
period from 1 January to 31 december  2011 has been prepared in accordance 
with applicable accounting standards and gives a true and fair view of the Group 
and the company’s consolidated assets, liabilities, financial position and results 
of operations, and that the report of the board of directors provides a true and 
fair view of the development and performance of the business and the position 
of the Group and the company together with a description of the key risks and 
uncertainty factors that they are facing.

oslo, 29 March 2012
Schibsted ASA’s board of directors

ole Jacob Sunde
chairman of the board

eva bernekeAnne lise von der Fehr

Gunnar Kagge

christian ringnes

Monica caneman

Karl-christian Agerup

Marie ehrling

rolv erik ryssdal 
ceo
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